Western & Graduate & Postdoctoral Studies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

4-18-2018 10:30 AM

Potential of Five Plant Species for Phytoremediation of Metal-PAH-Pesticide Contaminated Soil

Ezinne U. Ndubueze The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Yanful, Ernest K. *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor Macfie,Shelia *The University of Western Ontario*

Graduate Program in Civil and Environmental Engineering A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Engineering Science © Ezinne U. Ndubueze 2018

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Environmental Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Ndubueze, Ezinne U., "Potential of Five Plant Species for Phytoremediation of Metal-PAH-Pesticide Contaminated Soil" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5342. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5342

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Phytoremediation of contaminated soils has gained great attention as a low-cost and environmentally friendly remediation option. Given the desired advantages of phytoremediation, the present research evaluates the potential of established phytoremediation plants (alfalfa, oat, ryegrass, Indian mustard, sunflower, tall fescue and switch grass) to remediate mixed metal-PAHpesticide contaminated soil in greenhouse pot experiments. Mixed contaminated soil was prepared by spiking soil with copper (Cu), lead (Pb), pyrene and DDT as model compounds. Prior to the pot experiments, a phytotoxicity test was conducted to determine preliminary toxicity effects of combined contaminants on plants. The results eliminated tall fescue and switch grass from further consideration. Alfalfa, oat, rvegrass, Indian mustard and sunflower were grown in triplicates for 72 days in pots containing clean soil and soil contaminated with mixed contaminants. The results showed that sunflower and Indian mustard were the most tolerant plants to the studied mixed contaminants. Furthermore, sunflower was able to simultaneously remove metals, PAH and pesticide. Oat was identified as unsuitable for phytoremediation of metal-PAH-pesticide contaminated soil due to its ability to increase exchangeable Cu compared to unplanted soils. Overall the work supports the use of phytoremediation as a potential remedial option for soils contaminated with mixed contaminants.

Key words: Phytoremediation, Copper (Cu), Lead (Pb), DDT, Pyrene, Mixed contaminated soil, Sunflower, Indian mustard, Oat, Alfalfa, Ryegrass

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my gratitude to Prof. E. K Yanful for providing the funds for this research and also for supervising and guiding the course of the work. I would also like to thank The Africa Institute at Western University for providing me with a Queen Elizabeth II Scholarship under the Global Health programme.

My sincere thanks also go to Dr. Sheila Macfie. Your lab space, ideas, suggestions and proof readings went a long way to ensure the quality of this research.

I also thank Mrs. Caitlin Marshall of the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering for helping me with ICP analyses and other laboratory procedures, Dr. Ahmed Chowdhury also provided me with HPLC training, Dr. Ikrema Hassan for Microwave Extraction training, Mr. Brian Dennis of Chemical Engineering lab for helping with chromatography set up and trouble shooting, Mrs. Melodie Richards of the Geotechnical Engineering labs for training on soil tests and pore water extraction, and Dr. Niel Yasri for ICP training.

Finally I would like to thank friends and family for their support throughout my MESc. Studies.

Table of Contents
Abstract1
Acknowledgements ii
List of Tables vii
List of Figures viii
List of Appendices xi
List of Abbreviations xii
CHAPTER 11
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Environmental contamination1
1.2 Soil remediation
1.3 Problem statement and justification
1.4 Objectives of the research
1.5 Thesis Format10
CHAPTER 211
2.0 Literature Review
2.1 Fate of contaminants in soil11
2.2 Phytoremediation of contaminated soils14
2.3 Phytoremediation Techniques15
2.4 Phytoremediation of organic compounds16
2.5 Phytoremediation of inorganic contaminants

2.6 Phyton	remediation of organic-inorganic mixed contaminated soils	20
2.7 Conclu	usion	25
CHAPTER	3	26
3.0 Phyto	premediation of Metal-PAH-Pesticide Contaminated Soil	26
3.1 Materi	ials and Methods	26
3.1.1	Contaminant selection	26
3.1.2	Plant selection	29
3.1.3	Physical and chemical properties of soil	29
3.1.4	Soil spiking procedure	29
3.1.5	Toxicity test	30
3.1.6	Plant growth and harvesting	31
3.1.7	Soil pore water extraction	32
3.1.8	Metal analysis in soil and plant	32
3.1.9	Pyrene and DDT analysis in soil and plants	33
3.1.10	Statistical analysis and quality control	35
3.2 Result	ts	36
3.2.1	Soil properties	36
3.2.2	Preliminary toxicity test of mixed contaminated soil on plants: Effect of	
contami	ination on percentage germination	
3.2.3	Preliminary toxicity test of mixed contaminated soil on plants: Effects of	
contami	ination on root and shoot length	

3.2.4	Metal uptake by plants	41
3.2.5	Fate of metals in Soil pore water	44
3.2.6	Fate of metals in soil	45
3.2.7	Fate of Organic Contaminants in Soil	50
3.2.8	Organic contaminants uptake by plants	51
3.2.9	Plant growth response to mixed contamination	54
3.3 Discu	ission	60
3.3.1	Preliminary toxicity test	60
3.3.2	Metal uptake by plants	61
3.3.3	Soil metal fractions	63
3.3.4	Fate of organic contaminants	65
3.3.5	Plant growth performance	68
3.4 Conc	lusion	68
3.5 Limit	ation of study	69
CHAPTER	4	71
4.0 Cond	clusion and Recommendation	71
4.1 Signi	ficance of Study	71
4.2 Record	mmendations	72
References		74
APPENDIC	CES	

Curriculum Vitae

List of Tables

Table 1-1: Some applied remediation techniques. The list includes examples of contaminants
targeted by each technique and the effectiveness of remediation
Table 3-1: Concentration limits for selected contaminants in industrial soil and the concentrations
used as the experimental treatment
Table 3-2: Physical and chemical properties tested for the study soil
Table 3-3: Steps for sequential extraction of metals from soil
Table 3-4: Physical and chemical properties of the natural study soil (mean \pm SE, n=3)37
Table 3-5: $pHcacl_2$ (mean \pm SE, n=3) of planted and unplanted mixed contaminated soil. Different
letters indicate a significant difference between planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$)
Table 3-6: Translocation Factor (mean \pm SE) of Cu and Pb in plants grown on contaminated soil.
Different letters indicate a significant difference between TF of plants for Cu and Pb ($p \le 0.05$).
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation44
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation44 Table A-1: HPLC setup for pyrene
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation
Table 3-7: Metal concentration (mean ± SE) in soil pore water after phytoremediation

List of Figures

Figure 3-1: Germination percent (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plants in clean soil and contaminated soil.
Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between
plants (p \leq 0.05)
Figure 3-2: Root length (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plant species in clean soil and contaminated soil.
Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between
plants (p \le 0.05)40
Figure 3-3: Shoot length (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plant species in clean soil and contaminated soil.
Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between
plants (p \le 0.05)40
Figure 3-4: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE) in plant tissues after growth in contaminated soil (a)
Cu (b) Pb. Different letters indicate a significant difference between Cu and Pb uptake by plants
$(p \le 0.05)$ 43
Figure 3-5: Metal accumulation (mean \pm SE) in plants after growth in contaminated soil. Metal
speciation in soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between total Cu and Pb
accumulation by plants (p \leq 0.05)
Figure 3-6: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE) in planted and unplanted soil. (a) Cu and (b) Pb.
Different letters indicate a significant difference between Cu and Pb content in planted and
unplanted soils (p \leq 0.05)
Figure 3-7: Comparison of effect of plant growth on Cu speciation in mixed contaminated soil.F1:
exchangeable fraction, F2: carbonates-bound fraction, F3: Fe-Mn oxides-bound fraction, F4:

organic fraction, F5: residual fractionFigure 3-8: Comparison of effect of plant growth on Pb
speciation in mixed contaminated soil.F1: exchangeable fraction,F2:carbonates-bound fraction,
F3: Fe-Mn oxides-bound fraction, F4: organic fraction, F5: residual fraction
Figure 3-9: Comparison of pyrene concentration in planted and unplanted soil before and after
phytoremediation treatment. Different letters indicate a significant difference between pyrene
degradation in planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$)
Figure 3-10: Comparison of 4, 4'- and 2, 4'-DDT concentration in planted and unplanted soil
before and after phytoremediation treatment. Different letters indicate a significant difference
between DDT isomers and their degradation in planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$)
Figure 3-11: Total DDT concentration (mean \pm SE) in plant tissues after growth in contaminated
soil (a) Shoot (b) Root. Different letters indicate a significant difference between Cu and Pb uptake
by plants (p \leq 0.05)
Figure 3-12: Germination percent (mean \pm SE) of plants in clean and contaminated soil. Different
letters indicate a significant difference between DDT isomers and their degradation in planted and
unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$)
Figure 3-13: Plant survival (mean \pm SE) as a ratio of final germination to initial germination of
plants in contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between DDT
isomers and their degradation in planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$)
Figure 3-14: Increase in plant height with time (mean \pm SE) in clean and contaminated soil. *
indicate a significant difference between plant growth in clean and contaminated soil (Time $p \leq$
0.05)
Figure 3-15: Root and shoot biomass (mean \pm SE) of plants in clean (CS) and contaminated soil
(TS). Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and
between plants (Total biomass $p \le 0.05$)

Figure A-1: Chromatograph for pyrene 100mg/1	104
Figure A-2: Calibration curve for pyrene	105
Figure B-1: Chromatograph for DDT 10mg/l	108
Figure B-2: Calibration curve for DDT	108
Figure F- 1: Yellowing and drying up of leaves observed in sunflower and Indian mus	stard plants
grown in contaminated soils	116

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Plant metal concentrations in clean soil1	03
Appendix B: HPLC details for pyrene1	106
Appendix C: HPLC details for DDT	109
Appendix D: Analysis of variance for metal fractioning in soil	.111
Appendix E: List of parametric and non-parametric statistical tests used for data analysis	.113
Appendix F: Photographs of effects of contamination on plant growth	115

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BTEX	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene
DDD	Dichloro-diphenyl-dichloroethane
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane
DOC	Dissolved organic carbon
НСН	Hexachlorocyclohexane
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
OCP	Organochlorine pesticides
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic Hydrocarbon
PBDE	Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers
РСВ	Polychlorinated Biphenyls
PCDD/FS	Polychlorinated Dibenzo-p-Dioxins and Polychlorinated Dibenzofurans
РНС	Petroleum Hydrocarbons
РРСР	Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products
TF	Translocation Factor
TNT	2,4,6-trinitrotoluene

	٠	٠	٠
v			
х	L	I	L
••	•	٠	•

ТРН	Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon
ТРН	Total petroleum hydrocarbon
VOC	Volatile Organic Compound

CHAPTER 1

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Environmental contamination

Soil contamination is a major problem in Africa (Donkor, Bonzongo, Nartey, & Adotey, 2005; Jonker & Olivier, 2012), Asia (Moore, Dehghan, & Keshavarzi, 2014; Zhao, Ma, Zhu, Tang, & McGrath, 2015), Australia (Martley, Gulson, & Pfeifer, 2004; McGrath, Morrison, Sandiford, Ball, & Clarke, 2016), Europe (Douay et al. 2008; Lage, Wolterbeek, and Almeida 2016; Global Soil Forum 2013), North America (Eagles-Smith et al., 2016; McClintock, 2012) and South America (Mochungong & Zhu, 2015). Soil contamination has been attributed largely to rapid expansion of human activities in the form of agriculture, mining, industrialization, urbanization and globalization, to sustain the increasing world population. These activities have led to continuous release into the environment of xenobiotic chemicals whose concentrations and behaviors alter the natural state of the environment. Contamination of soil is of key interest because contaminants can be easily transferred to other natural resources (surface water, ground water and air) via leaching, run-off and evaporation, and to the food chain through uptake by plants, thereby compromising human health. Alongside reports of occurrence of these contaminants are findings of their adverse effects on the ecosystem, such as loss of aquatic life, loss of soil organisms, mutation during reproduction of organisms at various trophic levels of the ecosystem and cancer in humans (CCME 1999a).

In general, contaminants may be classified as being either organic or inorganic. Organic contaminants include pesticides, PHC (petroleum hydrocarbons), PCB (polychlorinated biphenyls), HCH (hexachlorocyclohexane), PBDE (polybrominated diphenyl ethers), and PPCP

(pharmaceuticals and personal care products). Inorganic contaminants include metals, metalloids, nanomaterials, radionuclides and nutrients. It is important to note that some of these contaminants occur naturally in soil and are only considered as contaminants when they occur in forms and concentrations that are detrimental to the ecosystem. The most problematic types of contaminants are the volatile organic contaminants (due to their easy transfer from soil or water to air, creating inhalation risks), hydrophobic organic compounds (due to their low solubility in water, which makes them immobile and persistent in soil) and metals (due to their inability to undergo microbial or chemical degradation) (Lee et al. 2002; Saichek and Reddy 2005).

Increasing occurrence of contaminants in the environment as well as their adverse effects led to establishment of soil pollution prevention measures such as banning the use of some contaminants and establishing legislation to prevent soil pollution (CCME 1999a; U.S EPA 2016). Over time, it was observed that even with adoption of pollution prevention measures, contaminants persisted in soil, due to their resistance to natural degradation processes, and have found their way into water courses and other constituents of the ecosystem. This created the need for research on possible remediation techniques.

1.2 Soil remediation

Established soil remediation techniques fall into four categories (Castelo-Grande, Augusto, Monteiro, Estevez, & Barbosa, 2010; Cheng-Kim, Bakar, Mahmood, & Abdullah, 2016). 1) Biological techniques, which include the use of microorganisms that can degrade the contaminant and establishing conditions that encourage increased microbial activities; e.g., bio-poles and land farming, bioventing, bio-stimulation, bio-augmentation, composting, natural attenuation and phytoremediation (the use of plants to take up contaminants from soil into their biomass).

Remediation technique	Type of remediation	Contaminants	Treatment description	Outcome	Reference
Biological techniques	Biostimulation with hydrogen peroxide,	PHC(8.77mg/kg)	Field-scale	Complete degradation of linear	(Menendez-Vega et al.,
	oleophilic fertilizer and surfactant			alkanes and reduction of cyclic	2007)
	(Bioversal HC)			and branched compounds after	
				4 months	
	Bioaugmentation by multiple	Fuels- diesel oil and aircraft	Field-scale	80-98% removal of TPH (total	(Łebkowska et al.,
					2011)
	inoculation with indigenous bacteria	fuel(6188mg/kg)		petroleum hydrocarbon) after	2011)
				5months	
	Natural attenuation	Co-contaminated soil with heavy metals (Cu,	Pot experiments	37% reduction in TPH (total	(Agnello, Bagard, Van
		Pb and Zn at 87, 100 and 110 mg kg ^{-1}) and		petroleum hydrocarbon)	Hullebusch, Esposito, &
		petroleum hydrocarbons (3800 mg kg ⁻¹)			Huguenot, 2016)
				Zero reduction in metals	
	Phytoremediation with alfalfa			47% reduction TPH (total	
	(Medicago sativa L.)			petroleum hydrocarbon)	
				Zero extraction of metals but	
				considerable phytostabilization	
			1		1

Table 1-1: Some applied remediation techniques. The list includes examples of contaminants targeted by each technique and the effectiveness of remediation.

Chemical techniques	Soil washing with 2M H3PO4, 2M	As (165.5mg/kg)	Laboratory study	90% reduction in As content of	
	NaOH and 0.1M Dithionite in 0.1M			soil	
	EDTA for 24 hours				
	Soil washing with fish extracts for	PCDDs (polychlorinated dibenzo-p-	Laboratory study -	94.12% removal of	(Vu et al., 2017)
	60mins per cycle	dioxins), PCDFs (Dibenzofurans) (22µg/kg)	ultrasonification and	contaminants in moderately	
			mechanical double-blade	contaminated soils (5 washing	
			stirring	cycles) and 94.51% removal of	
				contaminants highly	
				contaminated soils (10 washing	
				cycles	
	Enhanced electrokinetic treatment with	Co, Zn, Cd, Cu, Cr, Pb and Hg(10406mg/kg)	Laboratory study	Migration of metals to soil	(Figueroa, Cameselle,
	citric acid and			section closer to the cathode	Gouveia, & Hansen,
	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid				2016)
	(EDTA)				
	Unenhanced electrokinetic treatment	Pyrene (261.3mg/kg in sandy soil and	Laboratory study	57% and 20% removal of	(Xu, Guo, Wu, Li, & Li,
		259.8mg/kg in loam soil)		pyrene from sandy and loam	2014)
				soil	
Physical techniques	Thermal treatment by resistive heating	Trichloroethylene(273mg/kg)	Laboratory study-Tank	99.8% reduction in TCE after	(Heron, Van Zutphen,
			reactors	37 days	Christensen, & Enfield,
					1998)
	Thermal treatment by heated air	PAH(2308mg/kg) and VOC(4105mg/kg)	Field trial	71% reduction in PAH and 74%	(CL:AIRE, 2006)
				reduction in VOC	

2) Chemical techniques that exploit the chemical properties of contaminants and soil to enhance degradation; e.g., soil vapor extraction, airsparging, dechlorination, soil washing/flushing, solidification/stabilization, electrokinetics (use of low voltage electric current to immobilize contaminants) and solvent extraction. 3) Physical techniques which mainly refer to soil replacement (complete removal of contaminated soil or mixing contaminated soil with non-contaminated soil) and thermal desorption (high temperatures in the presence of oxygen are used to breakdown contaminants). 4) Primary action techniques (use of passive and reactive barriers to prevent contaminant migration). These remediation techniques mentioned above have been applied in a number of laboratory and field studies, some with promising results and others with little success as demonstrated by recent studies (Table 1-1).

Limitations to field application of remediation techniques could include cost of technology, social factors, site accessibility, climatic and soil conditions, biological factors, depth and location of contaminants, types of contaminants, combination of contaminants, and regulations. To implement remediation techniques successfully, these limitations must be addressed. An important limitation which has hardly been addressed in remediation studies is the occurrence of a mixture of various classes of contaminants.

Typically, soil contamination does not only involve one class of contaminants (Arjoon, Olaniran, & Pillay, 2013; DCS Limited, 2002; Loper, Breen, Zimmerman, & Clunne, 2009; Treasury Board of Canada, 2016). In the USA, approximately 40% of hazardous sites in the National Priority List (NPL) of the U.S Environmental Protection Agency are contaminated with a mixture of organic and inorganic contaminants (Sandrin, Chech, and Maier 2000). Similarly, in Canada a majority of the 23,111 contaminated sites contain mixed contaminants (Treasury Board of Canada, 2016).

In these sites, metals are the most common inorganic contaminants while petroleum hydrocarbons, chlorinated solvents and pesticides are common organic contaminants (Sandrin and Hoffman 2007). These contaminant mixtures are very common in factories, gas stations, waterfront properties (port lands) formerly used for industrial and commercial activities (MOECC, 2016), agricultural lands impacted by industrial activities (Vácha et al., 2015) and recently in urban landfills (XL Group Insurance, 2014). Some organic and inorganic contaminant mixtures are PHCs-metals, BTEX-PHCs-metals, PAHs-BTEX-metals, PAHs-PHCs-BTEX-pesticides, PHC-Pesticides. PAHs-PHCs, PHCs-BTEX, PHCs-PAHs-metals, PHCs-PAHs-metals-PCBs-PCDD/FS, PAHs-PHCs-metals-BTEX, PAHs-metals, PHCs-Halogenated hydrocarbon-PAHsmetals-BTEX, PAHs-metals-pesticides (Riely, Zachara, & Wobber, 1992; Treasury Board of Canada, 2016). Certain contaminant mixtures are associated with certain locations or activities For example, PAHs, metals and pesticides are commonly found at dump sites (Reddy and Chirakkara 2013) and in cattle market soil (Adeyi, Omidiran, & Osibanjo, 2014); PAH and metals are found in gas plant sites, sewage sludge dump sites, roadside soils and wood preservation sites; TPHs and metals in petrochemical units; DDT and metals (arsenic) in sheep and cattle dip sites; PAHs, PCBs and metals in electronic waste processing sites; nitro compounds and arsenic in military sites; PAHs, TPHs and metals in railway corridors; PAHs, PCBs and metals in river sediments; OCPS, PAH and metals in areas around coal-fired power plants (Thavamani et al., 2013); and PBDE, PCB, PAHS and metals in electronic waste sites (Ye et al., 2015).

1.3 Problem statement and justification

The occurrence of more than one class of contaminants in soil further complicates and limits field application of remediation processes due to the difference in physical and chemical characteristics of different classes of contaminants. Interactions among different groups of contaminants in soil can be unpredictable and may result in synergistic or antagonistic effects during remediation. Hence there is a need to understand the interaction of contaminants in mixed contaminated soil as well as their response to remediation techniques.

One of the most common ways mixed contaminants in soil are remediated is by excavation and disposal in landfills. With the excessive cost of finding new landfill sites and increasing regulatory requirements on quality of soil to be disposed in landfills, it is becoming necessary to develop low cost, environmentally friendly and socially acceptable techniques of remediating sites with mixed contaminants.

Phytoremediation, a biological remediation technique, has received a lot of attention over the past few years mainly because of its low cost, which varies depending on the type of contaminant, depth and area of contamination. The energy requirements (dependency of the process on solar energy) and the costs of establishing and maintaining plants are lower compared to removal and disposal of contaminated soil or remediation by other remediation options (Marques, Rangel, & Castro, 2009; Wan, Lei, & Chen, 2016). For example, the cost of phytoremediating mercurycontaminated soils was estimated by Garbisu and Alkorta (2001) to be one-tenth to one-hundredth the cost of other traditional engineering methods such as landfilling, thermal treatments, and chemical extraction. In addition to low cost, the aesthetic appeal of plants compared to chemical plants and bulldozers has given phytoremediation wide acceptance by the public (Ali, Khan, & Sajad, 2013; Sharma & Reddy, 2004).

Phytoremediation of soils contaminated with a single contaminant has been successfully established for contaminants such as zinc, chromium, lead (Barbosa et al., 2015; Romeh, Khamis, & Metwally, 2016), aroclor (PCB)(Zeeb et al., 2006), crude oil (Couto, Pinto, Basto, &

Vasconcelos, 2012), azoxystrobin (Romeh, 2015), atrazine (Balsamo et al., 2015; Murphy & Coats, 2011), and DDT (Paul, Rutter, & Zeeb, 2015). Phytoremediation performance in soil cocontaminated with members of the same class of contaminants has also been evaluated; zinc and arsenic (An et al., 2005); zinc, copper, lead and manganese (Padmavathiamma & Li, 2009); cadmium, chromium, copper, nickel, lead and zinc (Chang, Ko, Tsai, Wang, & Chung, 2014); 16 PAHs prioritized by the US EPA (Sun et al., 2011); and 4 organophosphorous pesticides (Ji. Gao, Garrison, Hoehamer, Mazur, & Wolfe, 2000).

A few studies have gone a step further to examine the effectiveness of phytoremediation on cocontamination and the possibility of concurrent uptake of contaminants during phytoremediation of two classes of contaminants. These studies used one exemplary contaminant for each class of contaminant and one plant species and they reported plant tolerance in co-contaminated soil alongside reduced biomass due to co-contamination. In the case of metal and PAH cocontamination, significant reduction in PAH toxicity was observed while metal and PAH accumulation in plants were minimal (Zhang et al. 2009; Chigbo 2013). Similar observations were made in the case of metals and PCP and metals (Hemchi et al. 2013). In the case of metals and PHC, significant uptake of metals was observed alongside degradation of PHC (Ramamurthy and Memarian 2012).

Chirakkara and Reddy (2015) pushed further by considering 2 to 3 exemplary contaminants (metal and PAH) mixed in contaminated soil at concentrations like those in industrial areas and using 8 plant species. They observed low survival rates in all plants, significant uptake of metals and enhanced degradation of PAH by some plants.

No studies have investigated phytoremediation of a mixture of the most commonly found contaminants in soil, which according to the Ashraf, Maah, & Yusoff (2014), Rathoure (2016) and US EPA (2004), are metals, pesticides, and petroleum-based hydrocarbons. Furthermore, no studies have considered a mixture with more than one class of organic contaminant in soils.

Hence, this research is focused on identifying plant species with the potential of phytoremediating soil contaminated with a mixture of metals, PAH and a pesticide through laboratory experiment.

1.4 Objectives of the research

This research seeks to achieve the following objectives

- a. Review relevant literature on phytoremediation of contaminated soil to select plants that have been successful in remediating mixed contaminated soils.
- b. Determine the performance of the selected plant species for phytoremediation of metals PAH pesticides contaminated soils (Cu and Pb, pyrene, DDT, respectively as model contaminants) by measuring
 - Germination and growth rate of plant species in contaminated soil compared to uncontaminated soil.
 - Residual contaminant concentration in soil after phytoremediation.
 - Uptake and accumulation of contaminants by plants after phytoremediation.
 - Mobility of contaminants in soil after phytoremediation

1.5 Thesis Format

This thesis contains four chapters (including the current chapter). Chapter 2 is a detailed literature review in the area of contaminants fate and phytoremediation. Chapter 3 contains the experimental setup and methods adopted to achieve research objectives (section 1.4) and the outcomes of the study. Chapter four cover concluding thoughts on this study and recommendation for future studies.

CHAPTER 2

2.0 Literature Review

2.1 Fate of contaminants in soil

Organic contaminants are retained in soil either by adsorption to the surface of the natural material or dissolution into the molecular network of the matrix (Chiou, 2002). Dissipation of organic contaminants in a soil profile depends on their mobility and degradation, which in turn depend on properties of the organic contaminants, soil properties and weather conditions (Nicholls, 1986). The physical and chemical properties of organic contaminants contribute largely to sorption interaction, which is a significant factor responsible for movement of organic contaminants in soil. Mechanisms of sorption for organic compounds in soil can include one or a combination of hydrophobic interaction, water solubility, ligand exchange, ion exchange, charge transfer or hydrogen bonding (Nicholls, 1986). Hydrophobic interaction occurs with lipophilic organic contaminants, which are not water soluble but soluble in oil, fats, lipids, and non-polar solvents. Sorption of such organic contaminants increases with organic matter content and lipophilicity and is measured by the octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) and the sorption per unit weight of soil organic matter (K_{oc}). For soluble organic contaminants, the sorption mechanism is related to soil pore water solubility; they tend to partition into soil pore water at the limit of their water solubility value, the undissolved quantity remains in the soil and is degraded slowly(Nicholls, 1986). Ligand exchange only occurs when ligands formed between organic compounds and soil are as strong as the bond between water and soil. This sorption mechanism occurs for organic contaminants such as pesticides that contain atoms of nitrogen, oxygen or phosphorus which are potentially capable of forming coordinate bonds with ions of metals such as iron, aluminum, manganese and copper present in soil(Nicholls, 1986). Charge transfer is only a significant sorption mechanism in field soil for aromatic molecules that are highly activated towards

electrophilic substitution. Ion exchange occurs for cationic organic compounds, as these can be exchanged at cation exchange sites in soil (clay minerals and humic surfaces).

The fate and transport of inorganic contaminants is dependent on the chemical form and speciation of the contaminant. In soil, they are adsorbed by initial fast reactions (minutes, hours), followed by slow adsorption reactions (days, years) and are then redistributed into different chemical forms with varying bioavailability, mobility, and toxicity. This distribution is believed to be controlled by reactions in soils such as mineral precipitation and dissolution, ion exchange, adsorption and desorption, aqueous complexation, redox reactions, biological immobilization and mobilization, and plant uptake (Wuana and Okieimen 2011).

In mixed contaminated soils, there is an interaction between dissipation processes of organic contaminants and those of inorganic contaminants. These interactions may be additive ,synergistic or antagonistic(Onyema, 2013; Wuana, Okieimen, & Vesuwe, 2014). For metal-metal mixtures, mobility, adsorption and accumulation of metals in soil is strongly influenced by competitive interactions. Metals with like atomic radii and valencies can easily be interchanged on the surfaces of soil particles and those with higher valency can displace those with lower valency. Similarly, in organic-organic contaminant mixtures competitive displacement is largely responsible for the partitioning of organic contaminants between liquid and solid phases of the soil. According to Xing et al. (1996), mixtures of organic contaminants in soils may reverse their adsorption in soil; a competing organic contaminant can displace an already adsorbed organic contaminant, which was formerly unavailable to the environment, into soil solution. In soil manifesting non-linear sorption behavior, this phenomenon makes prediction of organic contaminant transport and soil remediation efforts difficult (McGinley et al., 1993). Reactions between metals and organic compounds can result to chemical bonding between carbon atom of the organic compound and metals leading to the formation of organometallic compounds and ligands which are ions, molecules or molecule fragments bound to a central atom usually metal atom (usually metal is sandwiched between the organic compounds) (Spessard & Miessler, 2010). The compounds formed from metal-organic compound interactions may be soluble in soil pore water leading to simultaneous increase in the mobility of metals and inhibition of biodegradation of organic contaminants. Such an effect was reported by Chen et al. (2004) who observed an increase in Zn and Cu mobility due to co-contamination with an organic contaminant, 2,4-dichlorophenol (DCP), and attributed this to an increase in DOC (dissolved organic carbon) due to the addition of DCP. The increased mobility of metals due to the presence of organic contaminants has also been attributed to the formation of metal organic and inorganic complexes that do not adsorb to surfaces of solid soil particles, competition with other contaminants for sorption sites and increased metal association with mobile colloidal-sized particles (McGinley et al., 1993). This is not always the case, Dubé, Galvez-Cloutier, and Winiarski (2002) found that an increase in mobility of Cd, Cu and Pb in the presence of LNAPL(Light Non-Aqueous Phase Liquid) in carbonaceous soil was due to changes in soil hydrodynamics induced by LNAPL rather than chemical interaction between metals and LNAPLs. Interference of biodegradation of organic contaminants by metals is largely due to metal toxicity to microorganisms responsible for biodegradation of organic contaminants (Thavamani et al., 2011). Alternatively, compounds formed from metal-organic compounds interaction may also be insoluble in water and hence adsorb to soil solid phase making metals unavailable for plant uptake and persistent in soil.

Overall, the interactions between organic and inorganic contaminants are unpredictable and dependent on physicochemical properties of contaminant and soil.

2.2 Phytoremediation of contaminated soils

Phytoremediation is a bioremediation system that uses plants for in-situ removal of contaminants from soils, sludge, sediments and ground water (Ramamurthy & Memarian, 2012). This is not a new concept, it has been applied to wetlands, reed beds and floating-plant systems for treatment of wastewater for many years (Cunningham et al., 1995). Over the last few decades, studies on phytoremediation for the removal of different contaminants from soil has shown promising prospects.

Some of its major advantages are that it is usually carried out in-situ, allowing for reduced risk of exposure to contaminated soil for humans and other parts of the environment(Marques et al., 2009), and contaminants are removed from soil without affecting soil properties (Ali et al., 2013; Zihms et al., 2013), allowing for reuse of soil. On the other hand, phytoremediation is not without limitations, this technology is largely dependent on plants and bioavailability of contaminants, thus properties such as contaminant concentration, pH, salinity and the presence of other toxins in soil must be within the limits of plant tolerance(Cunningham et al., 1995; Hellström, 2004). This limitation makes this technology mainly suitable for shallow contamination (within the rooting zone) at non-excessive concentrations(Ramamurthy & Memarian, 2012). Despite this, phytoremediation has been recommended for very large soil contamination sites which otherwise would involve high remediation cost with other technologies(Ali et al., 2013; Cunningham et al., 1995). In addition, phytoremediation is slower than physio-chemical remediation processes and is usually considered to be a long-term remediation strategy(Wong, 2004).One major risk posed by phytoremediation is the introduction of remediated contaminants into the food chain by consumption of plants used for phytoremediation.

2.3 Phytoremediation Techniques

The diverse ways in which plants interact with contaminants for eventual removal or degradation can be referred to as phytoremediation techniques. Phytoremediation can occur by phytoextraction, phytofilteration, phytostabilization, phytovolatilization, phytodegradation, rhizodegradation or phytodesalination(Hussain et al. 2009; Pilon-Smits 2005; Hellström 2004; Ali, Khan, and Sajad 2013; Ghosh and Singh 2005). These techniques are not mutually exclusive.

Phytoextraction has also been called phytoaccumulation, phytoabsorption and phytosequestration. It results in the uptake of contaminants from soil or water by plant roots, translocation to and accumulation in aboveground biomass.

Phytofilteration is the removal of contaminants from water or wastewater by plants. This may be rhizofilteration (using plant roots), blastofilteration (using plant seedlings) or caulofilteration (using excised plant shoots). This is the dominant mechanism of remediation in wetlands.

Phytostabilization (also known as phyto immobilization), as the name suggests, is the use of plants to stabilize contaminants in soil, thus reducing mobility and bioavailability in the environment. This prevents migration of contaminants to groundwater and the food chain. Phytostabilization can either prevent erosion, leaching, and runoff or convert contaminants to less bioavailable forms (Pilon-Smits, 2005). It is more a containment technique than a decontamination technique.

Phytovolatilization is the uptake of pollutants from soil by plants, followed by their conversion to a volatile form and subsequent release into the atmosphere. The limitation faced by this technique is that the contaminants are transferred from one environmental medium (soil) to another (air).

Phytodegradation is the breakdown of contaminants by plants with the help of plant enzymes (e.g dehalogenase and oxygenase) and other molecules in root exudates. This technique is limited to organic contaminants as inorganic contaminants are not readily biodegradable.

Rhizodegradation (also called phytostimulation) is the breakdown of organic pollutants in soil by microorganisms in the rhizosphere of plants. In the rhizosphere, soil microbial activity is stimulated to about 10-100 times by secretion of plant root exudates containing carbohydrates, amino acids, and flavonoids(Ali et al., 2013). These exudates provide additional carbon and nitrogen sources for soil microorganism, thus facilitating microbial growth.

Phytodesalination refers to the use of halophytic plants for removal of salts from salt-affected soils to enable them to support normal plant growth

Phytodegradation and rhizodegradation are removal mechanisms specific to organic contaminants while phytoextraction is specific to inorganic contaminant (Ghosh and Singh 2005), although some organic contaminants such as DDT and PCB can also be phytoextracted. Phytovolatilization, rhizofiltration and phytostabilization apply to both organic and inorganic contaminants (Sharma & Reddy, 2004).

2.4 Phytoremediation of organic compounds

As summarized above, phytoremediation of organic contaminants occurs either by direct phytoremediation and/or by phytoremediation explanta. The former involves direct uptake and accumulation of xenobiotics from soil (phytoextraction) and the latter is based on secretion of root exudates and enzymes by plants (rhizodegradation and phytodegradation)(Chirakkara and Reddy 2015; Cunningham et al.,1995).

In direct phytoremediation, movement of organic contaminants into and within plants is primarily driven by diffusion in the liquid phase (Alkorta & Garbisu, 2001; Pilon-Smits, 2005). Direct uptake of organic compounds by plant is limited by low bioavailability of organic contaminants and evapotranspiration rate in plants(Alkorta & Garbisu, 2001). Bioavailability is strongly related to the octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) and volatility (expressed by Henry's law constant, H_i) of the organic contaminant. Organic contaminants with moderate hydrophobicity (log $K_{ow} = 0.5-3$) such as BTEX, chlorinated solvents, and short-chain PAH can be directly taken up by plants and stored in plant structures via lignification, or mineralized to water and carbon dioxide by plants(Schnoor, Light, McCutucheon, Wolfe, & Carriera, 1995). They are hydrophobic enough to move through lipid bi-layers of membranes and water soluble enough to travel through cell fluids(Pilon-Smits, 2005); although they are generally considered to be phloem immobile(unless modified by plants before uptake) and xylem mobile (Cunningham & Berti, 1993; Hellström, 2004). Compounds that are very soluble in water (log $K_{ow} < 0.5$) are not sufficiently sorbed to roots or actively transported; accumulation of such organic contaminants by plants is inversely related to passive influx of the transportation and transpiration system in the soil(Cunningham & Berti, 1993; Schnoor et al., 1995). Hydrophobic compounds ($\log K_{ow} > 3$) are very strongly bound to plant roots and are not easily translocated within the plants(Schnoor et al., 1995). For such organic contaminants, plant root exudates and enzymes help to enhance their degradation and immobilization(Alkorta & Garbisu, 2001). Organic contaminants with $H_i > 10^{-4}$ will tend to move in soil air spaces and those with $H_i < 10^{-6}$ will tend to move in soil pore water. Organic contaminants between these two H_i values will move in both soil air and soil pore water.(Hellström, 2004).Evapotranspiration rates vary greatly across plant species and are reported to have significant effects on the uptake of organic contaminants (Burken & Schnoor, 1996). Plants with higher evapotranspiration rates will take up more water, thus take up more contaminants that move with the bulk flow of water.

In phytoremediation explanta, the root exudates secreted by plants support the growth of diverse microbial activities in the rhizosphere by serving as a carbon and nitrogen source for microorganisms. Carbon and

nitrogen sources in root exudates are from organic compounds, such as phenolics, organic acids, alcohols, and proteins and the chemical composition of root exudates and rates of exudation differ significantly among plant species(Alkorta & Garbisu, 2001). In addition to root exudates, plants also secret enzymes that degrade organic compounds. Plant-derived enzymes that have been proven to be responsible for degradation of organic contaminants include laccases, dahalogenases, nitroreductases, nitrilases and peroxidases(Alkorta & Garbisu, 2001).

2.5 Phytoremediation of inorganic contaminants

Inorganic contaminants such as metals are either transformed to harmless forms, such as metal oxides or metal phosphates (phytostablization) or accumulated in the plant tissue (phytoaccumulation)(Chirakkara & Reddy, 2015b). The transport process in plants utilized for uptake and distribution of soil nutrients are also used for uptake and translocation of metals because they are chemically similar to plant nutrients, in fact some metals are essential plant nutrients. The uptake of inorganics in plants is facilitated through chelating agents produced by plant roots and are capable of inducing pH and oxidation-reduction potential (E_h) changes in soils surrounding the rhizosphere, resulting in solubilisation of soil bound inorganic contaminants (Tangahu et al., 2011). After uptake by roots, transport within plants is achieved through an active transport process involving generation of electrochemical potential gradients, co- and antimembrane transporter proteins and transport channels (Tangahu et al., 2011; Thakur et al., 2016).

Just like organic contaminants, bioavailability of inorganic contaminant is of key importance to plant uptake from soil. The majority of metals occur naturally in soil and at varying bio-availabilities. According to Prasad (2003), metals can be categorized as readily bioavailable(Cd, Ni, Zn, As, Se, Cu), moderately bioavailable (Co, Mn, Fe) and least bioavailable(Pb, Cr, U). In general, inorganic contaminants occur as cations or anions and are considered hydrophilic. Bioavailability of cations is controlled by soil's cation exchange capacity (CEC), which is a measure of the availability of binding sites for ions, thus cations will be less bioavailable in soils with higher CEC. But at lower pH the bioavailability of cations increases due to replacement of cations on soil CEC sites by H^+ (Hellström, 2004). In general, bioavailability of metals has been known to increase with decrease in soil pH. Another factor that controls the bioavailability of inorganic contaminants is the oxidation-reduction potential of soils. Depending on the oxidation-reduction $(E_{\rm h})$ state of soil, heavy metals can occur in a variable oxidation state which may or may not be readily taken up by plants. For example, inorganic As and Cr forms available in soil for plant uptake are arsenite AsO₃-3/As(III), arsenate AsO₄-3/As(V), Cr(III) and Cr(VI). As (V) and Cr (III) are considered relatively immobile because they are more stable and strongly retained in soil while Cr(VI) and As(III) are unstable and easily mobilized irrespective of pH(Kabata-Pendias, 2000; Rinklebe, Knox, & Paller, 2017). In a reducing soil environment (more negative E_h), As(III) and Cr(III) are prevalent, whereas in an oxidizing soil environment (more positive E_h), As(V) and Cr(VI) are prevalent (Delaune & Reddy, 2005). Thus, under reducing soil conditions bioavailability of As is expected to increase because of the dominance of As (III), whereas Cr bioavailability is reduced due to dominance of Cr (III). In reality, controlled bioavailability of metals in soils by interaction between CEC, pH and Eh is expected as opposed to influence by a single factor

Metal availability can be modified by root exudates and microbial soil activities. For example exudation of siderophores will increase iron solubility and exudation of low molecular weight organic acids (such as citrate and malate) will increase the solubility of aluminum, cadmium, copper, nickel and zinc (Li, Ye, & Wong, 2010; Nascimento, Amarasiriwardena, & Xing, 2006; Sessitsch et al., 2013). The activities of microorganisms in the rhizosphere can also increase solubility of metals by impacting soil pH, increase the transfer of soluble metals from the rhizosphere to the plant or increase the root surface area and hair production(Alford et al., 2010; Ali et al., 2013).

Plants can be categorized as either metal excluders, indicators or accumulators (Ghosh and Singh 2005; Ali, Khan, and Sajad 2013). Metal accumulators absorb metals from soil and concentrate them in their roots, shoots and/or leaves, possibly at levels exceeding soil concentration. Metal excluders prevent metals from entering their aerial parts or maintaining low and constant concentrations of soluble/exchangeable metal fraction in soil, they typically accumulate metals in their roots. Metal indicators accumulate metals in their tissues at levels that reflect soil concentration.

2.6 Phytoremediation of organic-inorganic mixed contaminated soils

Like many other remediation methods, a large number of phytoremediation studies is focused on one class of contaminants despite the abundance of evidence of mixed contamination in soils. The complexity of inorganic-organic contaminant interactions supports the need to investigate effectiveness of phytoremediation for mixed contaminated soils as well as interactions among organic contaminants, inorganic contaminants and plants. These interactions control mobility, uptake, bioavailability and degradation of contaminants. Outcomes of these interactions are different from phytoremediation of a single class of contaminants. There is a paucity of studies on phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soil. Available studies have shown highly variable outcomes relating to plant growth, contaminant transport within plants, contaminant accumulations by plants and degradation of contaminants. Some studies have discovered that plant response during phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soils will differ from plant to plant. This was demonstrated by Batty and Anslow (2008) who examined the effect of PAH(pyrene, 1000 mg/kg) on phytoremediation of a metal (Zn, 8000mg/kg) contaminated soil using Brassia juncea (Indian mustard) and *Festuca arundinacea* (tall fescue) after 12 weeks of plant growth. The two plant species responded differently under the same soil conditions. Growth (growth rate and wet biomass) of tall fescue was unaffected by the addition of pyrene while the growth of Indian mustard was significantly reduced by approximately 50%. The plants also accumulated Zn differently in mixed Zn-pyrene contaminated soil, compared to single Zn contamination. Zn concentration in Indian mustard (concentrated mostly in shoot) was increased by ~79% in mixed contaminated soil but that of tall fescue (concentrated mostly in root) remained the same compared to control. At the end of the study Zn removal efficiency of tall fescue was improved by pyrene but residual Zn in co-contaminated soil was not different between pots planted with either plants. Even though Zn removal efficiency was the same in both plants, the tolerance of tall fescue and its ability to concentrate Zn in its roots makes it a better candidate than Indian mustard, as the risk of contaminant transfer to the food chain is reduced. Similar synergistic effects on plant growth were observed by Zhang et al. (2009) and Sun et al. (2011). Zhang et al. (2009) studied the remediation of soil co-contaminated with pyrene (10, 50, or 100 mg/kg) and cadmium (2, or 4.5 mg/kg) using Zea mays L. (maize). After 8.6 weeks, the growth of maize was reduced by 0-8.90% in co-contamination with increasing pyrene concentration as well as in single Cd contaminated soil. Although plant growth was reduced by cocontamination, concurrent dissipation of pyrene and removal of Cd was achieved by maize. But the degradation of pyrene was greatly limited by Cd concentration, as demonstrated by an increase in residual pyrene with increased Cd concentration until similar values to unplanted soil was observed in combined Cd (4.5 mg/kg) and pyrene (100 mg/kg). A similar trend was observed for Cd concentration and accumulation in maize, which was reduced with increased pyrene concentration. A similar concurrent removal and growth pattern was observed by Sun et al. (2011) in a comparative study of phytoremediation of single contamination of B[a]P(benzo[a]pyrene) 2,5,10,50 mg/kg and that of B[a]P 5mg/kg co-contaminated with Cd 20,50mg/kg, Cu 100,500mg/kg or Pb 1000mg/kg,3000mg/kg using Tagetes patula (marigold). At the end of the 13-week growth period, translocation of organic and inorganic contaminants by marigold was observed in B[a] P and Cd mixed contaminated soil only, Pb and Cu were concentrated largely in roots. These studies show that synergistic effects were not only observed for plant growth but also for contaminant removal.
Although mixed contamination can lead to synergistic effects, antagonistic effects have also been observed. Jeelani et al. (2017) exposed Acorus calamus (sweet flag) to Cd (0, 10, 20mg/kg) and two PAH (phenanthrene and pyrene 0, 50+25,100+50mg PAH/kg) for 8.6 weeks. They showed that plant biomass production and plant height increased by 0 - 140% and 0 - 42.86% (p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively) with co-contamination compared to uncontaminated soil, and a single 20mg/kg Cd contaminated soil (in which plant growth was similar to that in clean soil). Highest Cd accumulation was observed in soil cocontaminated with low Cd-PAH soil contamination (10mg Cd/kg-50+25mg PAH/kg) and high Cd-PAH soil contamination (20mg Cd/kg-100+50mg PAH/kg). Cd translocation was generally poor irrespective of the treatment and Cd was largely concentrated in roots. These results imply that antagonistic effects such as improved plant growth and phytoremediation efficiency of contaminants depend on concentrations of contaminants in mixed contaminated soil. Irrespective of improvements in tolerance and Cd accumulation of sweet flag in mixed contaminated soil, this plant unfortunately was unable to improve the degradation of PAH in mixed contaminated soil. Chen et al. (2013) observed similar interaction in phytoremediation of hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH) -Cd contaminated soil using Allium sativum L. (garlic). They explained that the antagonistic effects of mixed contamination are partly due to formation of metal-organic complexes between metals and organic contaminants.

Depending on the physiological function of metals, uptake and translocation of metals in mixed contaminated soil might be improved. Chigbo, Batty, and Bartlett (2013), studied phytoremediation of Cu (0, 50 and 100 mg/kg) and pyrene (0, 250 and 500 mg/kg) using indian mustard and found phyto-toxic effects on the plant (in terms of reduced biomass) after 9.2 weeks of growth, the study showed improvements in metal translocation within Indian mustard. At low Cu concentration (50mg/kg), increasing pyrene concentration led to a 36% (p<0.05) increase in Cu-concentration in the plant compared to single Cu-contamination of 50mg/kg. At high Cu (100mg/kg) and incremental addition of pyrene, a19%-70%

increase in Cu concentration in the shoot was also observed compared to single Cu-contamination of 100mg/kg. In other words, with incremental concentration of pyrene and Cu in soil, the ability of Indian mustard to transport Cu from root to shoot seemed to improve. This demonstrates that biological functions of the metal in question (in this case Cu is a micronutrient) might contribute to improved translocation (as opposed to findings from Batty and Anslow (2008)) during phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soils. Irrespective of increased metal transport within plant in co-contaminated soil, overall accumulation of metal reduced drastically by 90% and 94% at low co-contamination (Cu 50mg/kg and pyrene 250mg/kg) and 86.5% and 83.5% at high co-contamination (Cu 100mg/kg and pyrene 500mg/kg) due to reduction in plant biomass. Furthermore, this study showed that degradation of pyrene was better in planted soil compared to unplanted soil. In planted soil, pyrene degradation was significantly reduced by incremental cocontamination with Cu compared to planted single pyrene contaminated soil. Residual pyrene in soil increased from 37.05mg/kg (at single 500mg/kg of pyrene) to 98.48mg/kg when 50mg/kg Cu was added and to 111.9mg/kg (greater than value in unplanted soil) when 100mg/kg Cu was added. The results of this study indicate that the presence of metal can inhibit biodegradation of organic contaminants and, most importantly, concurrent removal of contaminants is possible by phytoremediation. Lin et al. (2006) obtained similar outcomes in their study of effects of inorganic contaminant (represented by Cu 0,150,300mg/kg) on degradation/dissipation of pentachlorophenol (PCP) (0, 50,100mg/kg) in the presence of Lolim prenne (rye grass) and Raphanus sativa (Radish) after growth of 12weeks. Growth of plants and dissipation of PCP increased with incremental addition of Cu but was limited to low Cu(100mg/kg), which is about the same range of Cu as that used by Chigbo et al.(2013), and incressed concentration of Cu reduced percent PCP removal.

A much more undesirable outcome of co-contamination is the inreased mobility of contaminants in mixed contaminated soil. This was observed by Chen et al. (2004), who examined the effect of 2,4-

dichlorophenol(DCP), 100 mg/kg (organic contaminants), on uptake of Zn, 2978 mg/kg, and Cu, 1086 mg/kg, (inorganic contaminant) during 4 weeks of phytoremediation with *Lolium prenne* (rye grass). They found that the presence of 2, 4-dichlorophenol (DCP) increased the mobility of Zn and Cu by (as indicated by an increase in soluble and exchangeable soil metal fractions) in planted soil alongside reduced Zn accumulation and no significant effect on Cu accumulation in plant tissue when compared to unplanted soil. Increased mobility of metal was attributed to reduced uptake of metal by plants and an increase in dissolved organic carbon (DOC) due to the presence of DCP and a further increase in DOC due to the growth of rye grass in the co-contaminated soil. In addition, they found that the presence of DCP did not affect the growth (in terms of biomass production) of ryegrass.

Outcomes of phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soils may vary due to age-related changes in the physicochemical properties of soil. Chigbo and Batty (2013) demonstrated this by comparing performance of Indian mustard in freshly spiked and aged Cu-pyrene contaminated soil after 8.6 weeks. Biomass of Indian mustard decreased (>50%) in freshly spiked soil compared to aged soil. Probably because the bioavailability of contaminants decreases with time. As expected, the accumulation of Cu in shoot was reduced by 60-88% in aged soil. But there was no significant effect of planting on degradation of pyrene in aged soil.

Others have tried to screen plants based on their tolerance and contaminant removal. Chirakkara and Reddy (2015), conducted a study to select plants suitable for concurrent uptake of phenanthrene(100mg/kg), naphthalene(50mg/kg), Pb(500mg/kg), Cd (50mg/kg) and Cr (200mg/kg) by examining the phytoremediation efficiency of sunflower, indian mustard, field mustard, marigold, oat, rye grass, tall fescue, alfalfa, green onion, white clover, black nightshade and green gram (growth duration of 9 weeks). The concentrations they used were similar to those found in U.S superfund sites that have mixed contamination in soil. Sunflower, oat plant, rye grass, tall fescue and green gram were the only plants that

survived in the experimental conditions, although percentage survival and plant biomass were significantly reduced compared to that in clean soil. Removal efficiency of metals was in the order of Cr>Pb>Cd with uptake of Cr by all surviving plant species. Pb reduction was achieved only by sunflower (29%) and Cd reduction achieved by sunflower (18%) and Green gram (7%). Also, significant reductions in phenanthrene and naphthalene were observed for all surviving plant species. Similarly, Huang et al. (2011) screened 23 genotypes of *Ricinus communis* (castor) for remediation of Cd-DDT contaminated soil after 8.6 weeks and found concurrent accumulation of Cd and DDT by some genotypes, even higher concentrations than previously reported for any other plant. Lee et al. (2007) examined phytoremediation of Cd-Pb-2,4,6-trinitrotoluene(TNT) contaminated soil using *Echinochloa crusgalli* (barnyard), *Abutilon avicennae* (Indian mallow), *Aeschynomene indica* (Indian joint vetch) and *Helianthus annuus* (sunflower) for 26.7 weeks. All plants simultaneously removed Cd and TNT completely but Pb was not removed due to low exchangeable and soluble Pb in soil.

2.7 Conclusion

Based on the studies reviewed above, it may be concluded that typical rules that apply to single contaminated soils may not hold true for mixed contaminated soil and it is difficult to predict the outcomes of phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soil because of the many variables that affect the process. These variables include individual plant tolerance to contamination, type and concentration of contaminants in the mixture, and physiochemical properties of soil. Identifying plants with the potential to phytoremediate specific mixtures of contaminants in soils is a foundational step to providing insights in the area of phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soils.

CHAPTER 3

3.0 Phytoremediation of Metal-PAH-Pesticide Contaminated Soil

3.1 Materials and Methods

3.1.1 Contaminant selection

Two metals were selected to represent inorganic contaminants and two compounds were selected to represent organic contaminants. The Canadian Federal Contaminated Site inventory lists several active sites with soils contaminated by metals, pesticides and PAH. Pb and Cu were selected to represent two classes of metals, non-essential and essential metals, based on their roles in biological systems and they are the most commonly found metals at contaminated sites(He et al., 2015). Pyrene and DDT were selected to represent two classes of organic contaminants. DDT was selected because of its environmental significance as a pesticide that is persistent in the environment long after its production and use has been banned. Pyrene was selected because it is typically the most abundant PAH(World Health Organization, 2003). All contaminants selected for this study are on the US EPA's priority pollutants list.

The concentrations of the contaminants were selected such that they were within the range of concentrations used in studies reviewed in Chapter 2. They were above maximum concentrations prescribed for soils in industrial areas by the Ontario Environmental Protection Act (MOECC, 2011) and protection of ecological receptors in the environment and human health in industrial areas(CCME 1999b,1999c, 1999d,2010), since cases of mixed contamination are associated with areas with history of industrial activities (Table 3-1).

 Table 3-1: Concentration limits for selected contaminants in industrial soil and the concentrations

 used as the experimental treatment.

Contaminants	Concentration (mg/kg)	Concentration (mg/kg)	Concentrations (mg/kg)	Concentrations used (mg/kg)
Lead	600 (CCME 1999b)	120 (MOECC, 2011)	500- 3000 (Chirakkara & Reddy, 2015b; Sun et al., 2011)	650
Copper	500 (CCME 1999c)	230 (MOECC, 2011)	50- 1086 (Chen et al., 2004; Chigbo et al., 2013)	550
DDT	12 (CCME 1999d)	1.4 (MOECC, 2011)	0.61- 30 (Mo et al., 2008; Wang, 2008)	20
Pyrene	100 (CCME 2010)	96 (MOECC, 2011)	10-1000 (Batty & Anslow, 2008; Zhang et al., 2009)	200

Property	Method	Analyzing laboratory		
Grain size	ASTM C136/C136M (2014) for sieve analysis and ASTM	Western Geotechnical Lab		
distribution	D7928 (2017) for hydrometer test. Soil classification was			
	done using soil texture triangle.			
Specific gravity	Water Pycnometer according to ASTM D854 (2014b).	Western Geotechnical Lab		
Hydraulic	ASTM D5856 (2015)	Western Geotechnical Lab		
conductivity				
Moisture content	ASTM D2216 (2010)	Western Geotechnical Lab		
Organic matter	Loss on ignition at 360°C	A&L Laboratories Canada		
content				
рН	Electrometric measurement of 1:1 soil: water extract	A&L Laboratories Canada		
Nitrate content	0.01M K ₂ SO ₄ extract, cadmium reduction to NO ₂ ,	A&L Laboratories Canada		
	colorimetric measurement			
P, K, Mg, Ca, S, Zn,	Mehlich 3 extraction (plant available micro- and macro	A&L Laboratories Canada		
Mn, Fe, Cu, B, Al, Na	nutrients in soil) and ICP-OES			
Nitrogen content	Combustion and thermal conductivity	A&L Laboratories Canada		
Available potassium	Ammonium citrate buffer extraction and ICP-OES	A&L Laboratories Canada		
and phosphorous				
Metal content	EPA Methods 6010,6020,7196A and 7471A	Caduceon Environmental		
		Laboratories		

Table 3-2: Physical and chemical properties tested for the study soil

3.1.2 Plant selection

Based on a review of the literature on phytoremediation (Chapter 2) the following plants were selected because of their tolerance and contaminant removal abilities (Chirakkara and Reddy 2015; Lunney et al. 2004; Paul et al. 2015): *Panicum virgatum (switch grass), Lolium perenne (rye grass), Avena sativa (oat), Medicago sativa* (alfalfa), *Brassica juncea* (Indian mustard), *Helianthus annuus* (sunflower) and *Festuca arundinacea* (tall fescue). Seeds of switch grass, oat and sunflower were purchased from Hawthorn Farm organic seed, ON Canada; alfalfa, ryegrass and tall fescue from ProRich Seeds ON, Canada; and Indian mustard from Eagleridge Seeds BC, Canada.

3.1.3 Physical and chemical properties of soil

Four physical and seven chemical properties of soil were determined according to methods listed in Table 3-2. Most of the chemical properties of the soil were determined by A&L Laboratories Canada and Caduceon Environmental Laboratories Canada. Physical properties were conducted in the Geotechnical Engineering Laboratory at Western University. All tests were performed in triplicates.

3.1.4 Soil spiking procedure

Soil was collected from pits operated by AAROC Aggregates, London, Ontario, and air dried for 7 days after which the soil was pulverized, passed through a 2-mm sieve, mixed and divided into portions of 1000 g each. Subsamples (250 g each) of these soil portions were first contaminated with the acetone-soluble DDT and pyrene prior to adding the water-soluble metals (Pb and Cu) and generating the mixed contaminant test soil.

For the acetone-soluble compounds, 25 mg of two forms of DDT (68.51% 4, 4'- DDT and 31.49% 2, 4'- DDT) and 210 mg pyrene were dissolved in 100 mL of acetone and added to 250 g of soil. The soil was allowed to dry in a fume hood for 4 days and turned daily to ensure complete evaporation of acetone.

Appropriate amounts of Pb (NO₂)₃ and CuSO₄.5H₂O (depending on what the initial concentration of lead and copper was in a given batch) were dissolved in 75g of distilled water and added to the organiccontaminated soil to achieve a moisture content of 30%. The remaining portion (750 g) of clean soil was mixed with 225 g of water to achieve a similar moisture content. The clean soil (750 g) and contaminated soil (250 g) were then mixed together for 3 hours using a soil mixer to achieve a final concentration of 20 mg/kg, 200 mg/kg, 650 mg/kg and 550 mg/kg of DDT, pyrene, Pb and Cu, respectively. Contaminated soils were stored in moisture tight containers for 1 month before planting of seeds in order to achieve equilibrium between the solid phase and liquid phase of the soil. Although adsorption, fractioning and speciation of contaminants in soil phases involves a combination of fast and slow reaction which may take as little as a few hours or as much as a few years, the time constraint of this study permits 1 month to allow for stabilization of these reactions.

Cu salt was purchased from Caledon Laboratories Canada, all other spiking compounds were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada.

3.1.5 Toxicity test

Seed germination or root and stem elongation tests are the simplest type of toxicity test, typically used to determine preliminary effects of toxicity of contaminants on plants and can give a fair idea of plant tolerance to a specific level of contamination. The procedure for seed germination and the root and stem elongation test was adopted from ASTM (2009) and Greene et al. (1996).

Spiked (contaminated) soil and clean soil (control) were placed in a Petri dish. Prior to planting, seeds were aerated in water until the first sign of germination to ensure uniform germination among seeds. Each Petri dish was sown with 10 seeds each for every plant species. The Petri dishes were then covered and sealed with Para film and placed in a growth chamber. The chamber was set to 22°C and 16:8 hours of light: dark, with a relative humidity of 60%. It is difficult to provide optimum growth conditions (photoperiod, day-

night temperature and relative humidity) for each plant species. Most plant species have been found to grow actively between a minimum of 12-hour photoperiod, an average relative humidity of 50%. (Blankendal et al., 1972), and an average daily temperatures of 5-35°C, with the general assumption being that to achieve optimal growth that temperatures at night should be less than day temperatures by 3-10°C (Poorter et al., 2012) but positive effects of lower night temperature has been found to be negligible or detrimental to plant growth (Rajan & Blackman , 1975), Thus, the selected growth chember conditions for this study is satisfactory for plant growth.

Each plant species had 3 replicates for spiked soil as well as for clean soil. The Petri dishes were monitored for 7 days and the number of germinated seeds recorded. After 7 days the root and shoot lengths of plants were measured and the final germination percentage calculated.

3.1.6 Plant growth and harvesting

Based on the results of the germination test, alfalfa, ryegrass, sunflower, oat and Indian mustard were selected for the phytoremediation studies. Pots (8 cm diameter) were filled with clean soil (control) or contaminated soil, as described in Section 3.4. For each plant species, 3 pots of clean soil and 3 pots of spiked soil were prepared. Seeds (10 for alfalfa, ryegrass, oat and Indian mustard and 7 seeds of sunflower, to avoid overcrowding of plants in pots over the duration of this study) were placed at a depth of approximately 1 cm below the soil surface.

Plants were grown in a growth chamber (same conditions as in Section 3.5). The height of plants was measured every 7 days and the number of germinated seeds and surviving plants recorded. The plants were watered once every 2 days to maintain a moisture content of 40% across pots. Exactly 3.3 g of slow releasing fertilizer (N: P: K =12:4:8) was added two weeks after planting to all pots. All plants were grown until constant height was observed in some plants (harvesting only plants that showed constant heights at

72days will make comparisim of performance difficult as there is no known method of correcting for variation in plant growth duration for phytoremediation studies)

At the end of 72 days, the plants were harvested, shoots were separated from the roots and roots were washed with distilled water to remove soil particles. Plant tissue and soil were oven-dried at a temperature $\leq 40^{\circ}$ C until constant weight was achieved. Plant root and shoot weight were measured and reported as root and shoot biomass.

3.1.7 Soil pore water extraction

Pore water was extracted from soil using a pneumatic pore water squeezer. The squeezer cylinder was washed with distilled water and dried, and approximately 140 g of wet soil was loaded into the clean cylinder and a hydraulic press was set to a maximum pressure of 125 MPa. Filter paper was placed at the base of the cylinder to prevent soil particles from being collected along with the pore water. After 24 hours, pore water was collected and stored at 4^oC prior to testing. The cylinder was washed thoroughly with soap and rinsed a few times with distilled water and acetone between samples to avoid cross contamination.

3.1.8 Metal analysis in soil and plant

Pb and Cu were extracted from the soil matrix by microwave-assisted acid digestion using Method 3051A by U.S. EPA (2007a) and Tighe et al. (2004). The oven-dried soil was pulverised and 0.5g of soil weighed into the microwave express vessel. Ten millilitres (10 mL) of concentrated nitric acid (Sigma Aldrich Canada Omni Trace) was added to the vessel and then transferred into the microwave with temperature set to ramp to 175^oC over 6.5 minutes and held for another 15 minutes. The vessels were allowed to cool at room temperature. The samples were filtered and diluted to 50 mL.

Metal content of plant tissues was determined using a U.S EPA acid digestion method modified by Ahkter & Macfie (2012). The dried plant tissues were hand chopped into fine pieces and 0.1g was placed in a 15ml test tube and covered using glass marbles to prevent evaporation and allow pressure to be released during

heating. All the test tubes were placed in a rack and 1 mL pure nitric acid (OmniTrace®, EM Science,USA) was added to each test tube to digest the organic matter. The samples were left overnight at room temperature. The following day, the test tube rack was placed in a shallow tray filled with sand and heated to 90-100°C on a hot plate until the vapors became transparent. Samples were allowed to cool to room temperature before being filtered into 50 ml sterile disposable centrifuge tubes and diluted to 25 mL using reverse osmosis water.

Metal fractions in soil (exchangeable fraction, carbonates-bound fraction (or acid-extractable fraction), Fe-Mn oxide bound fraction (or reducible fraction), organic-bound fraction (or oxidizable fraction) and residual fraction) were determined using the sequential extraction procedure outlined in Table 3-3 using 1g of soil. The procedure for extracting the various fractions of metals was originally developed by Tessier et al. (1979) but the modification by Reddy et al. (2017) was adopted for this project. The extractant solution was recovered for each fraction by centrifugation (5000 rev/min for 20 minutes) and the supernantant carefully withdrawn with a pippette.The residue was then rinsed with milli Q water, centrifuged, and the resulting supernantant discarded. Shaking was done with an orbital shaker (Thermo Scentific MaxQ 2000) at 300 rpm.

All samples were stored at -4^oC until analyzed by ICP- OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectroscopy).

3.1.9 Pyrene and DDT analysis in soil and plants

Microwave Assisted Extraction (MAE) base method for the extraction of organic compounds from soil is described in Method 3546 by U.S. EPA (2007b). A modification of this method by Wang et al. (2007) for simultaneous extraction of PAH and organochlorine pesticides was adopted for extracting pyrene, DDT and its metabolites .

5 g of oven dried soil was weighed into the microwave vessel and 25ml mixture of acetone and n-hexane (1:1) was added to the vessel. Vessel was sealed and put into the microwave. The extraction was performed at a microwave power of 100% (1200W), with temperature at 110^{0} C and programmed to ramp to 110^{0} C for 10 minutes and held at 110^{0} C for another 10 minutes. Vessels were allowed to cool at room temperature for a minimum of 5 minutes, contents centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 20 minutes to separate soil particles from extract solution.

The supernatant was collected in a clean centrifuge tube and taken to an evaporator and evaporated to dryness. The residue left behind after evaporation was dissolved in 1900 μ L of acetonitrile (Sigma Aldrich Canada HPLC grade) and 100 μ L of dichloromethane (Caldeon Laboratories Canada) for DDT and 2000 μ L of acetonitrile for pyrene. Pre-concentrated extract was stored in HPLC vails at 4 °C prior to testing (for a maximum of 4 days). Samples were analysed using an Agilent 2000 series HPLC with UV-diode-array detector (DAD) and Eclipse C18 reverse phase column (25 cm × 4.6 mm, 5 μ m) made by Agilent.

Fraction	Procedure
Exchangeable fraction	8 mL of 1M sodium acetate solution (pH 8.2) was added to soil
	sample and mixed continuously
Carbonates-bound fraction	Residue from above plus 8 ml of 1M sodium acetate (pH=5,
	adjusted with acetic acid) and mixed continuously for 5 hours.
Fe-Mn oxides-bound	Residue from above plus 20mL of 0.04 M hydroxylamine
	hydrochloride (NH ₂ OH.HCl) in 25 % (v/v) of acetic acid and
	heated to 96 ⁰ C with occasional stirring for 6 hours.

Table 3-3: Steps for sequential extraction of metals from soil

Organic-bound	Residue from above plus 3 mL of 0.02 M nitric acid and 5 mL
	of 30% hydrogen peroxide (pH=2, adjusted with nitric acid) and
	mixed continuously for 3 hours and allowed to cool, 5mL of
	3.2 M ammonium acetate in 20% nitric acid is added and diluted
	to 20 mL with distilled water and mixed continuously for 30
	minutes.
Residual fraction	EPA 3050B

The Method 8310 by U.S EPA (1986) was used; it gives the fundamental procedure and conditions for the use of HPLC in the detection of organic compounds. HPLC was calibrated using a stock solution of 300 mg/L prepared by dissolving pyrene in acetonitrile and a stock solution of 80 mg/L prepared by dissolving DDT (68.51% 4, 4'- DDT and 31.49% 2, 4'-DDT) in acetonitrile and was diluted accordingly with acetonitrile.

Sample HPLC chromatographs and calibration curves for pyrene and DDT are shown in Appendix A and B, respectively. All retention times were below relative standard deviation of 5% (relative standard deviation is the ratio of standard deviation and mean expressed as a percentage).

Plant samples were sent to Agriculture and Food Laboratory University of Guelph for total DDT analysis using gas chromatography.

3.1.10 Statistical analysis and quality control

All parametric and non-parametric statistical tests were performed using Sigma plot 11.0 with α (significance level) at 0.05. Significant difference is shown using uppercase letters or asterisk (*), where bars and numbers with same letter indicate no significant difference, numbers and bars with

different letter or * indicate significant difference). Blanks and samples spiked with known concentrations were analysed alongside all samples during acid digestion, sequential extraction and extraction of organic compound. Recoveries from spiked samples were between 80- 120% and blanks did not indicate any signs of cross-contamination.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Soil properties

The physical and chemical properties of the study soil are presented in Table 3-4. The soil is predominantly sandy with low organic matter content and circumneutral pH. The soil can be classified as loamy sand. Also, the contaminants of interest are below the specified concentrations in natural soils in Ontario(MOECC 2011). Typically the most productive agricultural soils are those with high clay content because they have a higher water holding capacity.(Hillard & Reedyk, 2014).Unfortunately, this type of soil is not the characteristic soil of the London, Ontario area where this study was conducted.

The pH of soil before contamination, after contamination and after phytoremediation is given in Table 3-5. Soil pH was maintained within the neutral range after phytoremediation.
 Table 3-4: Physical and chemical properties of the natural

study soil (mean \pm SE, n=3).

Properties	Values		
Physical properties			
%clay	4.22% ± 0.84		
%silt	10.26% ± 1.90		
%Sand	85.52% ± 1.07		
Specific gravity	2.92 ± 0.05		
Hydraulic conductivity (cm/s)	7.59 x $10^{-4} \pm 1.79$ x 10^{-6}		
Chemical Properties			
CEC(meq/100g)	23.9 ± 2.40		
pH _{water}	7.6 ± 0.12		
Organic matter (%)	2.2 ± 0.23		
Nutrient content	1		
P (mg/kg)	20 ± 2.60		
K(mg/kg)	70 ± 10.97		

NO ₃ -N(mg/kg)	15 ± 1.73
S(mg/kg)	144 ± 23.21
Mg (mg/kg)	350 ± 30.88
Ca(mg/kg)	4130 ±529.66
Fe(mg/kg)	77 ± 15.86
Bo(mg/kg)	0.9 ± 0.20
Mn(mg/kg)	41 ± 5.92
Zn(mg/kg)	3.8 ± 0.66
Cu(mg/kg)	1.7 ± 0.52
Mo(mg/kg)	<1
Contaminants of interest	
Copper(mg/kg)	14 ± 4.44 (92)
Lead (mg/kg)	28 ± 9.37(120)
Total DDT	<d.l (1.5)<="" td=""></d.l>
Pyrene	<d.l (1)<="" td=""></d.l>

() values in bracket are background concentrations for soils in

Ontario

Table 3-5	5: pHcacl ₂	(mean =	± SE, n	=3) of 1	planted	and	unplanted	mixed	contami	inated	soil.	Different
letters in	dicate a sig	gnificant	t differe	ence bet	tween p	lante	d and unp	lanted	soil (p ≤	0.05).		

Soil	Pre-contamination	Post-contamination	Post-Remediation
Unplanted	$7.4 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	7.3 ±0.00 ^D	7.4 ± 0.06^{C}
alfalfa	7.6 ±0.00 ^A	7.6 ±0.00 ^A	7.5 ± 0.03^{BC}
Oat	7.3 ±0.00 ^D	7.3 ±0.00 ^D	7.4 ± 0.03^{C}
Ryegrass	7.5 ±0.00 ^B	7.4 ±0.00 ^C	7.2 ± 0.03^{E}
Indian mustard	7.5 ±0.00 ^B	7.4 ±0.00 ^C	7.3 ± 0.00^{D}
Sunflower	$7.4 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	7.3 ±0.00 ^D	$7.3\pm0.06^{\rm D}$

3.2.2 Preliminary toxicity test of mixed contaminated soil on plants: Effect of contamination on percentage germination

Seed germination for this study was defined as having a 1 mm radical emergence. Figure 3-1 shows percent germination for various plants. At the end of 7 days, no significant ($p\leq0.05$) effect of soil treatment was observed. Irrespective of the lack of a significant effect of contamination on seed germination, differential plant response in both clean and contaminated soil was observed. Specifically, switch grass did not

germinate in both soils and tall fescue had the lowest percentage germination (27.5% in clean soil and 25% in contaminated soil) compared to the other viable plant species in both clean and contaminated soil.

3.2.3 Preliminary toxicity test of mixed contaminated soil on plants: Effects of contamination on root and shoot length

As with percent germination, the responses of plant roots (Figure 3-2) and shoots (Figure 3-3) varied from species to species. A significant effect ($p\leq0.05$) of contamination on plant root length was observed for all plants except for sunflower. The percentage reduction in root length was as follows: 63% for tall fescue, 72% for rye grass, 45% for Indian mustard and 32% for oat; while a percentage increase of 41% was observed for alfalfa. The effect of contamination on shoot length was significant ($p\leq0.05$) only in oat with an increase of 135% compared to shoot length in clean soil. Slight non-significant effects were observed for ryegrass, alfalfa, Indian mustard and tall fescue, each of which showed an increase of shoot length, while sunflower shoot length decreased in contaminant soils.



Figure 3-1: Germination percent (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plants in clean soil and contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between plants (p \leq 0.05).



Figure 3-2: Root length (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plant species in clean soil and contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between plants (p \leq 0.05).



Figure 3-3: Shoot length (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plant species in clean soil and contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between plants (p \leq 0.05).

3.2.4 Metal uptake by plants

The concentration of metals in plants grown in contaminated soils were significantly higher than those grown in clean soils (Table A-1). The Cu and Pb concentrations in plant tissues are shown in Figure 3-4 (a) and (b), respectively. For all plants, 89-94% of Cu and 87-97% of Pb taken up from soil were concentrated in plant roots. No statistically significant difference was observed between Pb and Cu concentrations in plant tissues, except for ryegrass whose Cu concentration was 65% higher than its Pb concentration. Even though a statistically significant difference between Pb and Cu concentrations in plant tissues was absent for the remaining plants, they tended to accumulate more Cu than Pb; oat, alfalfa, Indian mustard and sunflower accumulated 15, 19, 12 and 7% more Cu than Pb, respectively. The translocation factor (TF is an indication of contaminant movement from roots to shoot or leaves and it is calculated as a ratio of metal concentration in stem or leaves and metal concentration in roots) of metals were generally low (less than 15%) in all plants (Table 3-6). The TF of Cu was higher than TF of Pb for alfalfa, oat, Indian mustard and sunflower, but the opposite was observed for ryegrass. Variation in metal TF was significant ($p \le 0.05$) only for Indian mustard whose TF for Cu was 4.3 times higher than that of Pb.

$$TF = \frac{Concentration of \ contaminant \ in \ shoot}{concentration \ of \ contaminant \ in \ root}$$

A much clearer indicator of performance of plants for the purposes of phytoremediation is total metal accumulation (Figure 3-5), which is a function of metal concentration in plant tissue and plant biomass (dry weight of harvested plants). Like plant metal concentration, plants accumulated similar amounts of Cu and Pb (no statistical difference between amount of accumulated Cu and Pb was observed). However, amounts of Pb and Cu accumulated was significantly different across plants except for Indian mustard and sunflower, which accumulated similar amounts of both metals.



(a)



(b)

Figure 3-4: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE) in plant tissues after growth in	contaminated soil (a)
Cu (b) Pb. Different letters indicate a significant difference between Cu and P	b uptake by plants (p
\leq 0.05).	

Table 3-6: Translocation Factor (mean \pm SE) of Cu and Pb in plants grown on contaminated soil.Different letters indicate a significant difference between TF of plants for Cu and Pb ($p \le 0.05$).

Plants	Translocation factor(TF) %				
	Cu	Pb			
Alfalfa	2.19 ± 0.30^{E}	$1.66 \pm 0.33^{\rm E}$			
Oat	$4.07\pm0.94^{\rm D}$	$3.30 \pm 0.11^{\mathrm{D}}$			
Ryegrass	$9.61 \pm 2.98^{\circ}$	$14.23 \pm 2.92^{\circ}$			
Indian mustard	11.92 ± 0.03^{A}	4.07 ± 0.22^{B}			
Sunflower	$7.07\pm0.58^{\rm A}$	$4.07\pm0.20^{\rm AB}$			



Figure 3-5: Metal accumulation (mean \pm SE) in plants after growth in contaminated soil. Metal speciation in soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between total Cu and Pb accumulation by plants (p \leq 0.05).

3.2.5 Fate of metals in Soil pore water

Metal concentration in soil pore water is given in Table 3-7. All planted soil significantly ($P \le 0.05$) mobilized more metals into soil pore water compared to unplanted soil except for soil planted with alfalfa. From the results of metal concentration in pore water, plants mobilized 1.3 -8.5 times more Cu than Pb with the concentration of Cu in pore water observed to be consistent with the Cu concentration in plant tissues did not reflect its concentration in pore water.

|--|

	Average meta	Average metal concentration (mg/l)			
Soil	Cu	Pb			
Unplanted	0.079 ± 0.017^{B}	$0.008 \pm 0.006^{\mathrm{D}}$			
Alfalfa	0.043 ± 0.003^{B}	0.051 ± 0.005^{BD}			
Oat	0.292 ± 0.035^{A}	0.04 ± 0.019^{D}			
Ryegrass	0.254 ± 0.034^{A}	0.03 ± 0.010^{D}			
Indian mustard	0.204 ± 0.061^{A}	$0.152 \pm 0.018^{\rm C}$			
Sunflower	0.283 ± 0.083^{A}	$0.178 \pm 0.033^{\rm AC}$			

3.2.6 Fate of metals in soil

After 72 days of plant growth, no significant (p<0.05) reduction in total metal content of contaminated soil was observed (Figure 3-6). But plant growth affected metal speciation in soils in diverse ways.

Figure 3-7 shows the effect of plant growth on Cu speciation in soil sown with the five plant species compared to unplanted soil. For soil planted with alfalfa, there was no statistical difference ($p \le 0.05$) in Cu speciation when compared to unplanted soil. The growth of Indian mustard and sunflower in contaminated soil significantly reduced exchangeable metal by 17% and 39%, respectively. In soil planted with ryegrass, 100% of exchangeable Cu was redistributed to the organic fraction, causing a 35% increase in organic bound fraction of Cu. Oat increased exchangeable Cu by 70% by redistributing the carbonate bound Cu fraction to exchangeable Cu. Residual and Fe-Mn oxide-bound fraction of Cu in all planted soils was similar to that of unplanted soil.

The exchangeable Pb fraction was significantly reduced by 37%, 14%, 16%, 24%, and 31% in soils planted with oat, alfalfa, ryegrass, indian mustard and sunflower, respectively, when compared to unplanted soil (Figure 3-8). Carbonates, Fe-Mn oxides, organic and residual fractions in planted soil were the same as in unplanted soil.

Regardless of plant growth, Cu was associated mainly with the Fe-Mn oxide-bound fractions (33-40%) followed by residual (26-29%), carbonate bound (18-21%), organic-bound (11-20%) and exchangeable (0-0.9%) fractions, while most of the Pb was associated with the carbonates-bound fraction (38-45%) followed by Fe-Mn oxides-bound (29-35%), residual (14-23%), organic (4-8%) and exchangeable fraction (0.4-0.8%). The percent of total soil Cu in the organic-bound fraction was 86-120% higher ($p \le 0.05$) than Pb for the same fraction.



(b)



Figure 3-6: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE) in planted and unplanted soil. (a) Cu and (b) Pb. Different letters indicate a significant difference between Cu and Pb content in planted and unplanted soils (p \leq 0.05).



Figure 3-7: Comparison of effect of plant growth on Cu speciation in mixed contaminated soil.F1: exchangeable fraction, F2: carbonates-bound fraction, F3: Fe-Mn oxides-bound fraction, F4: organic fraction, F5: residual fraction



■ F1 □ F2 □ F3 圖 F4 ■ F5

Figure 3-8: Comparison of effect of plant growth on Pb speciation in mixed contaminated soil.F1: exchangeable fraction,F2:carbonates-bound fraction, F3: Fe-Mn oxides-bound fraction, F4: organic fraction, F5: residual fraction.

3.2.7 Fate of Organic Contaminants in Soil

Residual organic contaminant in soil after phytoremediation is shown in Figure 3-9 for pyrene and Figure 3-10 for DDT. Significant reduction (~65%) in soil pyrene levels was achieved without the aid of plant. Additional pyrene was removed in the presence of alfalfa (17%) and sunflower (25%). Oat and Indian mustard seemed to slow down natural degradation of pyrene while ryegrass did not interfere with pyrene degradation.



Figure 3-9: Comparison of pyrene concentration in planted and unplanted soil before and after phytoremediation treatment. Different letters indicate a significant difference between pyrene degradation in planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$).

Degradation of DDT to its metabolites DDD (1, 1-dichloro-2, 2-bis (p-chlorophenyl) ethane) produced from biotic degradation and DDE (1, 1-dichloro-2, 2-bis (p-chlorophenyl) ethylene) produced from abiotic degradation was not observed. There was also no significant (p<0.05) reduction in 4, 4- and 2, 4- DDT of unplanted soil compared to the initial DDT value. Plant growth did not generate any significant reduction

of 4, 4-DDT in soil but 2, 4 DDT was reduced (p<0.05) in soils planted with alfalfa, Indian mustard and sunflower by 40%, 38% and 30%, respectively.



Figure 3-10: Comparison of 4, 4'- and 2, 4'-DDT concentration in planted and unplanted soil before and after phytoremediation treatment. Different letters indicate a significant difference between DDT isomers and their degradation in planted and unplanted soil ($p \le 0.05$).

3.2.8 Organic contaminants uptake by plants

Plant uptake of organic contaminants is well established (Paul et al., 2015; White, 2000; Zeeb et al., 2006). For the most part, plant uptake of PAH from contaminated soil accounts for a small portion (usually less than 0.1%) of total PAH decrease during phytoremediation (Hechmi, Aissa, Abdennaceur, & Jedidi, 2013; Lin, Shen, Zhao, & Li, 2008).Hence, determination of pyrene content of plants was considered unecessary in this study. For DDT, studies on phytoremediation of DDT in cotaminated soil have shown that plants can accumulate a considerable amount of DDT and its metabolites ranging bfrom 0 -77% of total DDT lost from soil (Huang et al., 2011; Lunney et al., 2004; Mo et al., 2008; Paul et al., 2015; Wang, 2008). The concentration of DDT in plant tissue is shown in Figure 3-11. Although DDD and DDE were absent in planted soils after phytoremediation, both isomers of DDD and DDE were observed in all plant tissue. DDD and DDE accounted for 56 – 73% and 1-7% of total DDT concentration (sum of DDT, DDD and DDE) in plant respectively. Sunflower had the highest concentration of DDT (4.81mg/kg) and DDD (8.96mg/kg) while oat had the highest DDE concentration (0.49 mg/kg). DDT distribution in plant tissues were similar to the pattern observed for Cu and Pb distribution in plant tissue in that DDT was concentrated mostly in plant root. DDT, DDD and DDE concentration in plant tissue in that DDT was concentrated mustard to 0.57 mg/kg in ryegrass, 0.14 mg/kg in Indian mustard to 0.32 mg/kg in sunflower and 0 mg/kg in all plants respectively. Root concentration values ranged from 1.93 mg/kg of DDT in Indian mustard to 4.5 mg/kg of DDT in sunflower, 5 mg/kg of DDD in alfalfa to 8.6mg/kg in sunflower and 0.12mg/kg of DDE in ryegrass to 0.49 mg/kg in oat. DDE concentration across plants was not significantly (p<0.05) different, but significant differences in DDD and DDT concentration was observed.



Figure 3-12: Total DDT concentration (mean \pm SE) in plant tissues after growth in contaminated soil (a) Shoot (b) Root. * indicate a significant difference between DDT, DDD and DDE concentration within plants (p \leq 0.05).

3.2.9 Plant growth response to mixed contamination

Percent germination in contaminated soil compared to clean soil is shown in Figure 3-12 and is seen to be similar to that obtained during the toxicity test (Figure 3-1) where no significant (p<0.05) effect of contamination on plant percent germination was observed. By the end of 72 days growth, percent survival of all plants in clean soil and that of oat, ryegrass and sunflower in contaminated soil remained the same but that of alfalfa and indian mustard in contaminated soil was significantly reduced (Figure 3-13) by 32% and 33% of their percent germination value at the beginning in contaminated soil. All plants developed extensive root systems that filled the entire soil volume, except for ryegrass whose roots were sparsely distributed in the soil.

A significant reduction (p<0.05) in growth rate in response to soil contamination was also observed for all plants except for sunflower (Figure 3-14). For Indian mustard, reduction of plant growth in contaminated soil was first observed on day 14 but by day 28 the plant went back to the same growth rate as in clean soil. Final height of plants in contaminated soil were significantly (p<0.05) lower than the plant height in clean soil by 36% for alfalfa, 22% for oat, 28% for rye grass and 5% for sunflower.

In addition to growth rate, biomasses produced in contaminated soil were significantly (p<0.05) lower than those produced in clean soil for all plants except Indian mustard (Figure 3-15). Contamination induced reductions in biomass of 92, 34, 69 and 61% for ryegrass, sunflower, alfalfa and oat, respectively. No effect on Indian mustard biomass was observed.



Figure 3-12: Germination percent (mean \pm SE) of plants in clean and contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between DDT isomers and their degradation in planted and unplanted soil (p \leq 0.05).



Figure 3-13: Plant survival (mean \pm SE) as a ratio of final germination to initial germination of plants in contaminated soil. Different letters indicate a significant difference between DDT isomers and their degradation in planted and unplanted soil (p \leq 0.05).



Figure 3-14: Increase in plant height with time (mean \pm SE) in clean and contaminated soil. * indicate a significant difference between plant growth in clean and contaminated soil (Time p \leq 0.05).


Figure 3-15 (Continued): Increase in plant height with time (mean \pm SE) in clean and contaminated soil. * indicate a significant difference between plant growth in clean and contaminated soil (Time p \leq 0.05).



□Shoot ■Root

Figure 3-16: Root and shoot biomass (mean \pm SE) of plants in clean (CS) and contaminated soil (TS). Different letters indicate a significant difference between clean and contaminated soil and between plants (Total biomass p \leq 0.05).

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Preliminary toxicity test

Seed germination can typically represent the first step to effective phytoremediation because plant performance at the early stages sets the pace for root and shoot development as well as to determine the extent to which the soil environment may negatively or positively impact plant growth. The lack of significant effect of the contaminants on seed germination can be understood to mean that the seeds of these plants are resistant to penetrative phytotoxic stress of the contaminant combination and at the tested concentrations. Even though, at early growth stage, the nutritional needs of embryonic plants are not provided from the soil environment but internally from seed stored materials(Kapustka 1997), prevention of interference by contaminants with nutritional materials stored in plant seed is preferred. The ability of plants to prevent penetration of contaminants into the seed is attributed to the nature of the selective permeability of the seed coat(Klokk, 1984; Wierzbicka & Obidzińska, 1998). Plant seed coats acts as a barrier between a plant embryo and the toxic environment, protecting the embryos from contamination until the embryonic roots start to develop (Kapustka 1997). The differential germination response of plants in contaminated soil is accounted for by the fact that the seed coat composition, as well as the permeability of seed coats, varies from plant to plant.

In addition to plant tolerance in a contaminated environment, a plant's above-ground mass and root structure are crucial for effective phytoremediation. Extensive roots and high above ground biomass are desirable qualities for phytoremediation. Longer roots increase the rhizosphere area thereby enhancing the ability to support soil microorganisms, improve contaminant uptake and reach contaminants at a deeper soil horizon (Harvey et al., 2002; Masarovičová & Kráľová, 2012). Larger shoot mass provides a larger area for transpiration, which improves metal transport from

root to shoot (Gleba et al., 1999). In the present toxicity test, root lengths of oat, rye grass, tall fescue and Indian mustard were adversely affected by contamination with tall fescue having the shortest root length in contaminated soil. Shoot lengths of most of the plants were larger for plants grown in contaminated soil, except for ryegrass; however, the shoot length of tall fescue in contaminated soil was one of the lowest. Over all, the sensitivity of plants to mixed contamination was in the order of roots>shoots> percentage germination.

By considering the importance of the plant roots and shoots as well as the relative tolerance in the contaminated soil alongside the results, switch grass, which didn't grow in either soil (probably because the batch of seeds were bad), and tall fescue, which had the lowest germination percent and shortest roots and shoots, were eliminated from further consideration for phytoremediation.

3.3.2 Metal uptake by plants

The first step in phytoextraction of metals from soil is mobilization of metals from contaminated soil solid phase to the bulk pore water after application of additives(Wang et al., 2007) such as surfactants and chelating agents. Plant root exudates are well known chelating agents which explains the observed mobilization of metals in planted soils compared to unplanted soil. A similar observation was made by(Lombi, Zhao, Dunham, & McGrath (2000) using two species of *Thlaspi caerulescens* (alpine pennygrass), *J. Presl* and *C. Presl*, to phytoextract Zn and Cd from metal contaminated soil.

In the present study, the mobilization of more Cu compared to Pb in soil pore water maybe due to Cu being more soluble in water than Pb. This further supports the seemingly preferential uptake and transport of Cu over Pb, indicated by higher Cu concentration in plants (Figure 3-4). In addition, Cu being an essential element affords it plant specific membrane transporters in the root cells that help bring in Cu compared to Pb which is not essential and does not have specific membrane transporters in plants (Mendoza-Cózatl, Jobe, Hauser, & Schroeder, 2011). This implies that for Pb to be taken up by plants, it has to slip through membrane proteins that are large enough to handle the 2+ charge on Pb²⁺ making Cu uptake by plants more likely than Pb. The order of Cu mobilization in soil was observed to be consistent with Cu plant concentration, surprisingly Pb uptake by plants was not related to Pb mobilization in pore water. This may point to the possibility of Pb ions competing with other ions in soil solution for plant uptake, since Pb will be travelling through non-specific transporters, Pb ions may compete with other ions in soil solution for access to these uptake channels, implying that the availability of Pb in soil solution may not translate into its uptake by plants.

The translocation factors (< 16%) for metals indicate that plants did not transfer metals from root to shoot. This sort of response is a tolerance mechanism in plants to reduce metal toxicity(Baker, 1981). Plant roots often act as a barrier to the uptake and transport of metals by binding contaminants outside the root surface which results in localization of metals in the root sometimes at metal concentrations higher than that of growth medium(Dalvi & Bhalerao, 2013; Inouhe, Hunag, Chaudhary, & Gupta, 2012; Kabata-Pendias, 2000).

Low total metal accumulation observed in this study can be attributed to the low concentration of bioavailable metals in the soil. Potentially most bioavailable forms of metal in soil are in the exchangeable fraction because they are weakly absorbed to soil and are easily converted to soluble forms (Narwal & Singh, 1998; Olaniran, Balgobind, & Pillay, 2013; Tessier et al., 1979).These soluble forms are readily taken up by plants from soil solution in the form of free ions or complexed forms (Kabata-Pendias, 2004). In the present study, the exchangeable fraction of metal in the

unplanted soil was 2.3mg/kg out of 550mg/kg of added Cu and 4.0mg/kg out of 650mg/kg of added lead. Both fractions are less than 1% of the total metal content leading to low amount of metals in soil solution and a considerable amount of metal in factions that are not readily available for plant uptake. A similar observation was made by Chirakkara and Reddy (2015) after phytoremediation of a mixed contaminated soil(Pb, Cd, Cr, phenanthrene and anthracene) in which the lowest metal removal by plants corresponded to the metals with the lowest percent of exchangeable fraction. In their study, exchangeable forms of Pb, Cd and Cr were 4 mg/kg out of 500mg/kg added (<1%), 2.8mg/kg out of 50mg/kg (5.6%) and 30mg/kg out of 200mg/kg (15%,), respectively and the highest metal removal by plants was observed for Cr. In the face of low plant accumulation and preferential uptake of Cu over Pb, the highest amount of metals in the current study were accumulated by sunflower (2.5mg Cu and 2.4mg Pb) and Indian mustard (2.1 Cu and 1.7mg Pb).

3.3.3 Soil metal fractions

Metal speciation refers to the various chemical forms in which metals can exist in the environment. Tessier et al.(1979), identified exchangeable, carbonate, Fe-Mn oxide, organic and residual fractions as the metal species in soil that are likely to be affected by various environmental conditions. The exchangeable fraction of metals is generally considered to be mobile and bioavailable to plants for uptake and adsorption, whereas the carbonate, Fe-Mn oxide, organic and residual fractions are considered immobile and not readily available to plants (Shuman, 1985; U.S EPA, 2009). A principle controlling factor of metal speciation and bioavailability in soil is pH (Brown, Pickford, & Davison, 1984; Rieuwerts, Thornton, Farago, & Ashmore, 1998; T. Sandrin & Hoffman, 2007; U.S EPA, 2009).

In the present study, the low (<1%) exchangeable fraction of Cu and Pb can be related to the pH of soil. The pH of planted and unplanted soils ranged from 7.3 to 7.6 (Table 3-5). In general, the mobility of metals tends to increase at acidic pH and reduce at basic pH. This has been established to be true for cationic metals such Cu, Pb, Zn, Ni, etc. which at pH > 7are adsorbed strongly to soil (McLean & Bledsoe, 1992) and are thus less likely to be mobilized. More specifically, Spurgeon et al. (2006), observed reductions in the extractable fractions of metals As, Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn at soil pH 7-8 compared to the extractable concentrations at soil pH 4 -6.Thus at the pH observed in this study, Cu and Pb are expected to associated more with immobile fractions than mobile fraction.

Irrespective of soil pH, plants are capable of changing metal speciation in soil(Chirakkara & Reddy, 2015b; Padmavathi & Li, 2009). In the present study oat was able to redistribute a relatively immobile fraction of Cu to a mobile fraction and ryegrass redistributed a mobile fraction of Cu to an immobile fraction. An increase of metals in the mobile fraction can be undiserable because of increased risk of contaminant transfer to other parts of the environment .The ability of oat to increase exchangeable Cu can be attributed to the root exudates of oat. According to Adamczyk-Szabela et al. (2015), Chirakkara & Reddy (2015a) and Kabata-Pendias (2000), organic substances produced by plant roots and released to the soil as exudates can shift the equilibrum between different metal factions and form soluble complexes with metals. This may explain why oat was able to increase exchangeable Cu in soil.

The reduction in exchangeable Pb by all plants and exchangeable Cu by Indian mustard and sunflower can be attributed to plant uptake. The difference in outcomes of Cu and Pb speciation in soil after growth of plants can be attributed to differences in the plants' response to contaminant

toxicity, differential binding mechanisms of Cu and Pb in soil, and the subsequent reactions with soil components .For example, Cu has a greater affinity to organic matter than Pb and hence forms stable complexes with organic matter unlike Pb (Kabata-Pendias, 2000; Q. Li et al., 2007). This is consistent with the present study, in which organic-bound Cu accounted for an average of 14% of total Cu in soil and organic-bound Pb accounted for an average of 6% of total Pb in soil.

3.3.4 Fate of organic contaminants

Organic contaminants can be removed from soil in one or more of the following ways: 1) Plant uptake, 2) Degradation by enzymes from plant roots or microorganisms in the rhizosphere, 3) Volatilization and 4) Incorporation into soil organic material (Lin, et al , 2006; Zhang et al, 2009).

The reduction in the amount of residual pyrene in unplanted soil compared to initial concentration at the end of the experiment implies degradation by soil micro-organisms and/or volatilization. Further reductions in pyrene concentration were observed in soils planted with alfalfa, ryegrass and sunflower, indicating plant-promoted biodegradation of pyrene. Plants are able to improve the degradation of organic contaminants by enzymes secreted by roots, which improves microbial activities in the rhizosphere. The same reason may explain higher pyrene concentrations in soils planted with oat and indian mustard, except that the root enzymes secreted by these plants may have reduced soil microorganism degradation activities by changing the metabolic capacity of micro-organisms(Phillips, Greer, Farrell, & Germida, 2012). An alternative explanation for increased pyrene content in some planted soils is that the movement of pyrene by mass flow or diffusion in the bulk flow of water towards the rhizosphere caused an increase in pyrene accumulation in the soils surrounding roots, which is expected to dissipate with time (Liste & Alexander, 2000).

The DDT concentrations measured in unplanted soil compared with the initial value indicates that loss of DDT via voilitilization was negligable. In planted soils, the absence of main DDT metabolites (DDD and DDE) in soil was observed and can be considered desirable as DDE and DDD have similar toxic effects in the environment as DDT. Their absence can be attributed to toxicity to soil microrganisims by DDT itself or co-contamination with metals and pyrene. Toxicity of metals and DDT to soil microrganisms is well estabilished. More specifically, metals have been reported to prevent degradation of DDT to DDE and DDD. Studies have shown that metals such as As can also inhibits breakdown of DDT to DDE and DDD, and Cu can prevented degradation to DDD (Gaw, Palmer, Kim, & Wilkins, 2003; Van Zwieten, Ayres, & Morris, 2003). Both studies observed that increase in metal and DDT concentration in soil was accompained by reduction in microbial activities. Co-contamination may have resulted in pyrene, as opposed to DDT, being the prefered carbon source for soil microrganisims.

The outcome of not obtaining DDT metabolites is the persistance of DDT in the soil as no significant reduction in 4,4'-DDT in planted soil compared to unplanted soil and the initial value was observed. Soils planted with alfalfa,indian mustard and sunflower on the other hand showed significant reductions in 2,4'-DDT,implying that these plants have a mechanisim for assisting prefrential degradation of 2,4'DDT.Similar observation were made in bioremediation studies by Zhu et al., 2012 and Fang et al. 2010. In the former, *Sedum alfredi* accumulated 11.5 times more 2,4-DDT than 4,4 DDT.Similarly in the latter study, 78 % removal of 2,4-DDT by pumpkin was observed compared to 13% recorded for 4,4-DDT. However, the mechanisms and processes in plants responsible for this prefered uptake and degradation is yet to be elucidated.

Comparing the amounts of DDT lost in soil to the amounts observed in plant tissue it is not clear what the dominant process of DDT removal was because of the observed transformation of DDT to DDD and DDE by plants and inability of the study set up to account for further breakdown of DDT to water and carbon(IV) oxide or other undetectable transformation products. Regardless, it is clear that the loss of DDT from soil can be attributed to more than one process, a possible combination of plant uptake (phytoextraction), plant enzyme assisted degradation (rhizodegradation) and phytodegradation/phytotranformation. The procsses involved in transformation of DDT in plants is not well known but some studies have reported similar transformation in plant tissue. Gao, Garrison, Hoehamer, Mazur, & Wolfe (2000) observed DDT tranformation by axenically cultuvated aquatic plants parrot feather (Mariophyllum aquaticum), duckweed (Spirodela oligorrhiza), and elodea (Elodea canadensis) to majorly DDD. This suggests that the transformation of DDT involves an enzymes mediated reaction(s) in plant cells. This is supported by results from an enzyme study by Chu, Wong, & Zhang (2006) showing the degradation of DDT in enzyme extract soultion from the root, leaf and stem of common reed (Phragmites australis) and rice(Oryza sativa L.) to DDD and DDE with DDD being the main metabolite. The prescence of DDD as the main metabolites in the present study as well as the previously mentioned studies further supports that the tranformation is mediated by a biotic process as DDD is the major by product of biological breakdown of DDT (Chu et al., 2006).

Overall, it is difficult to compare plants performance in terms of accumulation of DDT in the current study to other studies that used similar plants to phytoextract DDT from DDT contaminated soils (Lunney et al., 2004; Mitton, Miglioranza, Gonzalez, Shimabukuro, & Monserrat, 2014). In additon to co-contamination of DDT with Cu,Pb and pyrene, the initial soil concentration of total DDT is 5-40 folds higher than those used in these studies.

3.3.5 Plant growth performance

Results of plants percent germination in potted seeds were similar to those obtained in petri dishes (toxicity test). Irrespective of the lack of any effect on germination by the contaminants, at the end of a 72 day growth period, reduced growth rate, biomass and survival in contaminated soil was observed in some plants as well as signs of phyto-toxicity such as yellowing and/or drying up of the leaves(Appendix F). Effects such as these can be attributed to the lack of soil nutrients or the presence of contaminants in soil. The possibility of nutrient deficiency was ruled out by the addition of slow-releasing fertilizer during plant establishment making the presence of mixed contaminants in soil most likely responsible for observed effects on plant growth.

Adverse effects of mixed contaminated soil on plants can be attributed to the presence of metals, organic contaminants or an interaction between both classes of contaminant. Metals such as Cu, Ni, Co, Zn and Pb are known to impact negatively on plant growth by reducing translocation and causing deficiency of essential nutrients within plants (Siedlecka, 1995). Also, organic contaminants such PAH and DDT have also been reported to adversely affect plant growth (Mitton et al., 2014; Smith, Flowers, Duncan, & Alder, 2006). Overall, growth performance and behavior varied significantly from species to species of plant.

3.4 Conclusion

At the end of phytoremediation, the biomass of Indian mustard was least affected by mixed contaminated soil while sunflower generated the highest biomass in mixed contaminated soil. Also compared to other plants used in this study, the growth rate of both plants was least affected by soil contamination. This implies the high tolerance of these plants in the presence of studied contaminant mixture. Rye grass was most affected by mixed contamination and produced the least biomass.

In terms of contaminant removal and uptake, Indian mustard and sunflower also accumulated the highest amount of Cu and Pb in its tissues. Although Indian mustard slowed down the degradation of pyrene, it did improve the removal of 2, 4-DDT from soil and sunflower improved the removal of both pyrene and DDT from soil. Irrespective of ryegrass and alfalfa accumulating the least amounts of metals, ryegrass was able to redistribute exchangeable fraction of Cu to organic-bound fraction and alfalfa improved the removal of pyrene and 2, 4'-DDT from soil. All plants accumulated DDE and DDD in addition to DDT, even though metabolites of DDT were absent in soil.

All plants achieved reduction of exchangeable Pb thereby reducing the potential of increased mobility of Pb. But, exchangeable Cu was significantly increased by oat and completely redistributed to organic faction in soils planted with ryegrass. The observed increase in exchangeable copper in soils planted with oat indicates a potential increase in mobility of Cu and the possibility of further contamination of groundwater during phytoremediation.

Overall considering plant growth in soil and contaminant removal from soil, sunflower demonstrated the greatest potential as a phytoremediation candidate in metal-PAH-pesticide contaminated soils.

3.5 Limitation of study

One of the limitations of this study is the duration of plant growth. The growth duration in this study is 72 days because ryegrass and oat attained constant height at 72days. The performance of the plants in this study is specific to maturity level attained by individual plants in 72days. The

outcomes may be different if plants were grown for a longer period of time or if plants maturity differs from those observed after 72 days. For example, maturity date of Indian mustard is 120-150 days, Hence growth and phytoremediation performance may have been different if Indian mustard was allowed to grow to maturity.

The sorption and desorption behavior of contaminants will vary depending of the physical and chemical characteristics of soil. Sorption and desorption characteristics of soils and contaminants can be affected by age related changes in soil. Freshly spiked soil aged for 1 month was used in the current study, the resulting removal efficiencies observed may be different if applied to metal-PAH-pesticide contaminated soils collected from sites that have been contaminated for a number of years. Furthermore site specific characteristics of contaminated soils such as photoperiod, contaminant concentrations, soil water holding capacity, day-night temperature, soil texture and relative humidity.

Finally, in this study Cu, Pb, pyrene and DDT were used as model contaminants for metals, PAH and pesticide. These model compounds and concentrations used in the current study cannot be used to generalize the behavior of all other metals, PAHs and pesticide in mixed contaminated soils. These compounds were chosen because of their environmental significant, frequency of occurrence and use in remediation study.

CHAPTER 4

4.0 Conclusion and Recommendation

4.1 Significance of Study

Relative tolerance (in terms of germination and survival) of plants examined in this study to the mixture of contaminants in soil highlights their potential as phytoremediation candidates for mixed contaminated soils. However, co-contamination did significantly affect plant growth in terms of reducing plant biomass and growth rate.

Sunflower stands out in this study because of its ability to improve the degradation of pyrene and 2, 4'DDT in soil alongside metal accumulation. This demonstrates the potential of sunflower for simultaneous remediation of metals, PAH and organochlorine pesticides in mixed contaminated soil.

The ability of ryegrass to redistribute exchangeable Cu to the relatively immobile organic fraction, reduce exchangeable Pb and improve phyto-degradation of pyrene (even though it was unable to achieve degradation of DDT), does qualify it as an excellent candidate for phyto-stabilization of metals in metal-pyrene-DDT contaminated soil. Soil amendments are recommended to improve growth and biomass production.

Oat accumulated more metals than ryegrass, but the accompanying undesirable outcome of increased Cu mobility (increase in exchangeable Cu) and failure to improve the degradation of pyrene and DDT makes oat unsuitable for phytoremediation of soils co-contaminated with metals, pyrene and DDT.

Alfalfa can be considered an excellent candidate for phyto-degradation subsequent to metal removal in combined remediation systems given its low potential for metal accumulation in the given mixed contaminated soil and its ability to enhance the removal of pyrene and 2, 4'-DDT.

Indian mustard has a similar potential as sunflower except that it slowed down removal of pyrene in planted soil and thus may require augmentation with pyrene degrading microorganisms or require further remediation technology for pyrene removal after phytoremediation with Indian mustard.

4.2 Recommendations

The current work focused solely on identifying plants with the potential to remediate metal-PAHpesticide contaminated soils. Sunflower and Indian mustard were identified as the most tolerant of all the plants studied. In addition, sunflower was able to facilitate simultaneous removal of Pb and Cu, pyrene and DDT used as model compounds for metal, PAH and pesticide. A point of concern is the undesirable increase in exchangeable Cu observed in soils planted with oat. However, the characterization of plant enzymes and transport proteins involved in contaminant uptake, transport, degradation and metal speciation can provide a clearer understanding of the various adverse and favorable outcomes in phytoremediation. The examination of the physiology of these plants under the stress of mixed contamination is required to further elucidate the reasons for differential plant growth, given that metals, PAH and pesticides are common contaminant groups found in mixed contaminated soils as well as the interaction between these classes of contaminants.

Contaminant interactions in spiked soils is not always representative of field conditions, thus field application or green house studies with soil collected from contaminated sites is recommended to further verify potential application of phytoremediation in mixed contaminated soils both in a short and long term.

In general, exchangeable/soluble metal fraction is soil is referred to as the most bioavailable forms of metal in soil, but some studies have identified plants like *Andropogon scoparius* (little blue stem) as being able to take up other forms of metals (in this case Fe-Mn oxides-bound fraction) from soil(Reddy et al.. 2017). Therefore, analyzing metal speciation in plant tissue in addition to metal speciation in soils can provide a better understanding of how plants affect metal speciation in soil.

References

- Adamczyk-Szabela, D., Markiewicz, J., & Wolf, W. M. (2015). Heavy Metal Uptake by Herbs.
 IV. Influence of Soil pH on the Content of Heavy Metals in Valeriana officinalis L. *Water*, *Air, and Soil Pollution*, 226(4), 106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2360-3
- Adeyi, A. ., Omidiran, O. M., & Osibanjo, O. (2014). Assessment of Soil Contamination of a cattle market around River Ogun Basin, Isheri, Nigeria. In *Environmental Risk Assessment of Soil Contamination* (pp. 225–255). Tech Open. https://doi.org/10.5772/57302
- Agnello, A. C., Bagard, M., Van Hullebusch, E. D., Esposito, G., & Huguenot, D. (2016).
 Comparative bioremediation of heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons co-contaminated soil by natural attenuation, phytoremediation, bioaugmentation and bioaugmentation-assisted phytoremediation. *Science of the Total Environment, The*, 563–564(1), 693–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.10.061
- Ahkter, F., & Macfie, S. M. (2012). Species-Specific Relationship between Transpiration and Cadmium Translocation in Lettuce, Barley and Radish. *Journal of Plant Studies*, 1(1), 2–13. https://doi.org/10.5539/jps.v1n1p2
- Alford, É. R., Pilon-Smits, E. A. H., Paschke, M. W., Alford, É. R., Pilon-Smits, E. A. H., &
 Paschke, M. W. (2010). Metallophytes—a view from the rhizosphere. *Plant Soil*, *337*(1–2), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0482-3
- Ali, H., Khan, E., & Sajad, M. A. (2013). Phytoremediation of heavy metals—Concepts and applications. *Chemosphere*, 91(7), 869–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.075

- Alkorta, I., & Garbisu, C. (2001). Phytoremediation of organic contaminants in soil.
 Bioresources Technology, 79(3), 273–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(00)00108-5
- An, Z.-Z., Huang, Z.-C., Lei, M., Liao, X.-Y., Zheng, Y.-M., & Chen, T.-B. (2005). Zinc tolerance and accumulation in Pteris vittata L. and its potential for phytoremediation of Zn-and As-contaminated soil. *Chemosphere*, *62*(5), 796–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.04.084
- Arjoon, A., Olaniran, A. O., & Pillay, B. (2013). Co-contamination of water with chlorinated hydrocarbons and heavy metals: challenges and current bioremediation strategies. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, *10*(2), 395–412.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-012-0122-y
- Ashraf, M. A., Maah, M. J., & Yusoff, I. (2014). Soil Contamination, Risk Assessment and Remediation. In *Environmental Risk Assessment of Soil Contamination* (pp. 1–50).
 INTECH. https://doi.org/10.5772/57287
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2009). *Standard Guide for Conducting Terrestrial Plant Toxicity Tests, E1963-09*. West Conshohocken. https://doi.org/10.1520/E1963-09R14.Copyright
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2010). Standard test methods for laboratory determination of water (moisture) content of soil and rock by mass. *D2216*. https://doi.org/10.1520/D2216-10.N
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2014a). Standard test method for sieve analysis of fine and coarse aggregates. *C136/C136M*, 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1520/C0136

- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2014b). Standard test methods for specific gravity of soil solids by water pycnometer. *D854*. https://doi.org/10.1520/D0854-10.
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2015). Standard test method for measurement of hydraulic conductivity of porous material using a rigid-wall, compactionmold permeameter. *D5856*. https://doi.org/10.1520/D5856-15.2
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). (2017). Standard test method for particlesize distribution (gradation) of fine-grained soils using the sedimentation (hydrometer) analysis. *D7928*. https://doi.org/10.1520/D7928-16
- Baker, A. J. M. (1981). Accumulators and excluders -strategies in the response of plants to heavy metals. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 3(1–4), 643–654. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904168109362867
- Balsamo, R. A., Kelly, W. J., Satrio, J. A., Ruiz-Felix, M. N., Fetterman, M., Wynn, R., & Hagel, K. (2015). Utilization of Grasses for Potential Biofuel Production and Phytoremediation of Heavy Metal Contaminated Soils. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 17(5), 448–455. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2014.922918
- Barbosa, B., Boléo, S., Sidella, S., Costa, J., Duarte, M., Mendes, B., ... Fernando, A. L. (2015).
 Phytoremediation of Heavy Metal-Contaminated Soils Using the Perennial Energy Crops
 Miscanthus spp. and Arundo donax L. *BioEnergy Research*, 8(4), 1500–1511.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-015-9688-9
- Batty, L. C., & Anslow, M. (2008). Effect of a Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon on the

phytoremediation of zinc by two plant species (Brassica juncea and Festuca arundinacea). *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, *10*(3), 236–251. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510801997549

Blankendal, M., Hudgson, R. H., Hoerauf, R. A., & Shimabukuro, R. H. (1972). Growing Plants Without Soil for Experimental Use. Washington D.C. https://doi.org/Misc-Pub-1251

Brown, R. M., Pickford, C. J., & Davison, W. L. (1984). Speciation of Metals in Soils. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 18(3), 135–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067318408076997

- Burken, J. G., & Schnoor, J. L. (1996). Phytoremediation: plant uptake of atrazine and role of root exudates. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, *122*(11), 958–963. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9372(1996)122:11(958)
- Castelo-Grande, T., Augusto, P. A., Monteiro, P., Estevez, A. M., & Barbosa, D. (2010).
 Remediation of soils contaminated with pesticides: a review. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 90(3–6), 438–467.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03067310903374152
- CCME(Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). (1999a). *Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines*. Retrieved from http://ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/en/index.html#void
- CCME(Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). (1999b). Canadian soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health- Lead. Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines.

CCME(Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). (1999c). Canadian soil quality

guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health - Copper. Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines.

- CCME(Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). (1999d). Canadian soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health - DDT(Total). Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines.
- CCME(Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). (2010). *Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health - Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Canadian environmental quality guidelines.* Retrieved from stts.ccme.ca/?lang=en&factsheets=186#soil_agricultural_concentration
- Chang, F., Ko, C., Tsai, M., Wang, Y., & Chung, C. (2014). Phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soil by Jatropha curcas. *Ecotoxicology*, 23(10), 1969–1978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1343-2
- Chen, Y. X., Lin, Q., He, Y. F., & Tian, G. M. (2004). Behavior of Cu and Zn under combined pollution of 2,4-dichlorophenol in planted soil. *Plant and Soil*, 261(1–2), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PLSO.0000035581.92021.f2
- Chen, Z., Zhao, Y., Guo, T., & Gu, L. (2013). Accumulation and phytoavailability of hexachlorocyclohexane isomers and cadmium in allium sativum L. under the stress of Hexachlorocyclohexane and Cadmium. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 90(2), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-012-0882-6
- Cheng-Kim, S., Bakar, A. A., Mahmood, N. Z., & Abdullah, N. (2016). Heavy metal contaminated soil bioremediation via vermicomposting with spent mushroom compost.

ScienceAsia, 42(6), 367–374. https://doi.org/10.2306/scienceasia1513-1874.2016.42.367

- Chigbo, C., & Batty, L. (2013). Phytoremediation potential of Brassica juncea in Cu-pyrene cocontaminated soil: Comparing freshly spiked soil with aged soil. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 129, 18–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.05.041
- Chigbo, C., Batty, L., & Bartlett, R. (2013). Interactions of copper and pyrene on phytoremediation potential of Brassica juncea in copper and pyrene co-contaminated soil. *Chemosphere*, 90(10), 2542–2548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.007
- Chigbo, O. C. (2013). *Phytoremediation potential for co-ccontaminanted soils*. The University of Birmingham. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1548709946?pq-origsite=summon&accountid=15115
- Chiou, C. T. (2002). Partition and Adsorption of Organic Contaminants in Environmental Systems (1st ed.). New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471264326
- Chirakkara, R. A., & Reddy, K. R. (2015a). Phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soils:
 Enhancement with biochar and compost amendments. *Geotechnical Special Publication*,
 GSP 256, 2687–2696. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784479087.250
- Chirakkara, R. A., & Reddy, K. R. (2015b). Plant species identification for phytoremediation of mixed contaminated soil. *Journal of Hazardous, Toxic, and Radioactive Waste*, 19(4), 218– 229. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HZ
- Chu, W. K., Wong, M. H., & Zhang, J. (2006). Accumulation, distribution and transformation of DDT and PCBs by Phragmites australis and Oryza sativa L.: II. Enzyme study. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 28(1–2), 169–181.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-005-9028-7

- CL:AIRE. (2006). Remediation trial at The Avenue using thermal treatment. *CL:AIRE Case Study Bulletin*, *6*, 4.
- Couto, M. ., Pinto, D., Basto, M., & Vasconcelos, T. S. D. (2012). Role of natural attenuation, phytoremediation and hybrid technologies in the remediation of a refinery soil with old/recent petroleum hydrocarbons contamination. *Environmental Technology*, *33*(18), 2097–2104. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2012.660646
- Cunningham, S. D., & Berti, W. R. (1993). Remediation of contaminated soils with green plants: an overview. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol*, 29(4), 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02632036
- Cunningham, S. D., Berti, W. R., & Huang, J. W. (1995). Phytoremediation of contaminated soil. *Environmental Biotechnology*, 13(9), 393–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF0263203610.1016/S0167-7799(00)88987-8
- Dalvi, A., & Bhalerao, S. (2013). Response of plants towards heavy metal toxicity: an overview of avoidance, tolerance and uptake mechanism. *Annals of Plant Sciences*, 2(9), 362–368.
- DCS Limited. (2002). Phase III Environmetal Site Assessment And Associated Activities Small Craft Harbours DFO ID 4894/DFRO NO. 36347 Mississauga(Lakefront Promenade),Lake Ontario.
- Delaune, R. D., & Reddy, K. R. (2005). Redox Potential. In *Encyclopedia of Soils in the Environment* (pp. 366–370). Elsevier Ltd.
- Donkor, A. K., Bonzongo, J. J., Nartey, V. K., & Adotey, D. K. (2005). Heavy Metals in Sediments of the Gold Mining Impacted Pra River Basin, Ghana, West Africa. *Soil and*

Sediments Contamination, 14(6), 479–503. https://doi.org/10.1080/15320380500263675

- Douay, F., Pruvot, C., Roussel, H., Ciesielski, H., Fourrier, H., Proix, N., & Waterlot, C. (2008).
 Contamination of Urban Soils in an Area of Northern France Polluted by Dust Emissions of Two Smelters. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, *188*(1–4), 247–260.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-007-9541-7
- Dubé, J.-S., Galvez-Cloutier, R., & Winiarski, T. (2002). Heavy metal transport in soil contaminated by residual light non-aqueous phase liquids (LNAPLs). *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 39(2), 279–292. https://doi.org/10.1139/t01-113
- Eagles-Smith, C. A., Wiener, J. G., Eckley, C. S., Willacker, J. J., Evers, D. C., Marvin-DiPasquale, M., ... Ackerman, J. T. (2016). Mercury in western North America: A synthesis of environmental contamination, fluxes, bioaccumulation, and risk to fish and wildlife. *Science of The Total Environment*, 568(15), 1213–1226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.094
- Fang, H., Dong, B., Yan, H., Tang, F., & Yu, Y. (2010). Characterization of a bacterial strain capable of degrading DDT congeners and its use in bioremediation of contaminated soil. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *184*(1–3), 281–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.08.034
- Figueroa, A., Cameselle, C., Gouveia, S., & Hansen, H. K. (2016). Electrokinetic treatment of an agricultural soil contaminated with heavy metals. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 51(9), 691–700. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2016.1170425

Gao, J., Garrison, W. A., Hoehamer, C., Mazur, C. S., & Wolfe, L. N. (2000). Uptake and

Phytotransformation of Organophosphorus Pesticides by Axenically Cultivated Aquatic Plants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *48*(12), 6114–6120. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF9904968

- Gao, J., Garrison, W. A., Hoehamer, C., Mazur, C. S., & Wolfe, N. L. (2000). Uptake and Phytotransformation of o,p'-DDT and p,p'-DDT by Axenically Cultivated Aquatic Plants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48(12), 6121–6127. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF990956X
- Garbisu, C., & Alkorta, I. (2001). Phytoextraction: a cost-effective plant-based technology for the removal of metals from the environment. *Bioresource Technology*, 77(3), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(00)00108-5
- Gaw, S. K., Palmer, G., Kim, N. D., & Wilkins, A. L. (2003). Preliminary evidence that copper inhibits the degradation of DDT to DDE in pip and stonefruit orchard soils in the Auckland region, New Zealand. *Environmental Pollution*, 122(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00417-7
- Ghosh, M., & Singh, S. P. (2005). A review on phytoremediation of heavy metals and utilization of it's by products. *Asian Journal on Energy and Environment*, 6(604), 214–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-014-1088-2
- Gleba, D., Borisjuk, N. V, Borisjuk, L. G., Kneer, R., Poulev, A., Skarzhinskaya, M., ... Raskin,
 I. (1999). Use of plant roots for phytoremediation and molecular farming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(11), 5973–5977.
 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10339526

- Global soil Forum. (2013). Soil Contamination: A Severe Risk for the Environment and Human Health. Retrieved from http://globalsoilweek.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/11/GSW_factsheet_Contamination_en.pdf
- Greene, J. C., Bartels, C. L., Warren-Hicks, william J., Parkhurst, B. R., Linder, G. L., Peterson,S. A., & Miller, W. E. (1996). Protocols for Short Term Toxicity Screening of HarzordousWaste Sites. Chicago.
- Harvey, P. J., Campanella, B. F., Castro, P. M. L., Harms, H., Lichtfouse, E., Schäffner, A. R.,
 ... Werck-Reichhart, D. (2002). Phytoremediation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons, anilines and phenols. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 9(1), 29–47.
 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11885416
- He, Z., Shentu, Yang, X., Baligar, Zhang, T., & Stoffella, &. (2015). Heavy Metal Contamination of Soils: Sources, Indicators, and Assessment. *Journal of Environmental Indicators*, 9, 17–18.
- Hechmi, N., Aissa, N. B., Abdennaceur, H., & Jedidi, N. (2013). Phytoremediation Potential of Maize (Zea Mays L.) In Co-Contaminated Soils with Pentachlorophenol and Cadmium. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 15(7), 703–713. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2012.723067

Hellström, A. (2004). Uptake of organic pollutants in plants: literature survey. Uppsala.

Heron, G., Van Zutphen, M., Christensen, T. H., & Enfield, C. G. (1998). Soil Heating forEnhanced Remediation of Chlorinated Solvents: A Laboratory Study on Resistive Heatingand Vapor Extraction in a Silty, Low-Permeable Soil Contaminated with Trichloroethylene.

Environmental Science and Technology, 32(10), 1474–1481.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ES970563J

- Hillard, C., & Reedyk, S. (2014). Soil Texture and Water Quality. Retrieved from http://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/science-and-innovation/agricultural-practices/soil-and-land/soiland-water/soil-texture-and-water-quality/?id=1197483793077
- Huang, H., Yu, N., Wang, L., Gupta, D. K., He, Z., Wang, K., ... Yang, X. E. (2011). The phytoremediation potential of bioenergy crop Ricinus communis for DDTs and cadmium co-contaminated soil. *Bioresource Technology*, *102*(23), 11034–11038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.09.067
- Hussain, S., Siddique, T., Arshad, M., & Saleem, M. (2009). Bioremediation and phytoremediation of pesticides: recent advances. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science* and Technology, 39(10), 843–907. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643380801910090
- Inouhe, M., Hunag, H., Chaudhary, S. K., & Gupta, D. K. (2012). Heavy metal bindings and their interaction with thiolpeptides. In D. K. Gupta & L. M. Sandalio (Eds.), *Metal Toxicity in Plants: Perception, Signaling and Remediation* (pp. 1–22). Verlag Berlin Heidelberg: Springer. Retrieved from https://books.google.ca/books?id=9V9Vu54X6dgC&pg=PA10&lpg=PA10&dq=mechanism +for+localization+of+toxic+metals+in+plant+root&source=bl&ots=_9sRFAUjGI&sig=-OCDIsSDPrw676EFfWSu8Wh0UFs&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjD4f_GzbzXAhWi5o

MKHRh-DFYQ6AEITTAF#v=onepage&q=mechan

Jeelani, N., Yang, W., Xu, L., Qiao, Y., An, S., & Leng, X. (2017). Phytoremediation potential of Acorus calamus in soils co-contaminated with cadmium and polycyclic aromatic

hydrocarbons. Scientific Reports, 7(1), 8028. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07831-3

- Jonker, C., & Olivier, J. (2012). Mineral Contamination from Cemetery Soils: Case Study of Zandfontein Cemetery, South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 9(12), 511–520. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph9020511
- Kabata-Pendias, A. (2000). *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants* (3rd ed.). Florida: CRC Press LLC.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. (2004). Soil–plant transfer of trace elements—an environmental issue. *Geoderma*, 122(2–4), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2004.01.004
- Kapustka, L. A. (1997). Selection of Phytotoxicity Test for Use in Ecological Risk Assessment. In
 W. Wang, J. W. Gorsuch, & D. Huges (Eds.), *Plsnts for Environmental Studies* (pp. 516–548). New York: CRC Press.
- Klokk, T. (1984). Effects of oil pollution on the germination and vegetative growth of five species of vascular plant. *Oil and Petrochemical Pollution*, 2(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0143-7127(84)90669-0
- Lage, J., Wolterbeek, H., & Almeida, S. (2016). Contamination of surface soils from a heavy industrial area in the North of Spain. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 309(1), 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10967-016-4757-x
- Łebkowska, M., Zborowska, E., Karwowska, E., Miakiewicz-P, E., Musz nski, A., Tabernacka, A., & Naumczyk, J. (2011). Bioremediation of soil polluted with fuels by sequential multiple injection of native microorganisms: Field-scale processes in Poland. *Ecological Engineering*, 37(11), 1895–1900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2011.06.047

- Lee, I., Baek, K., Kim, H., Kim, S., Kim, J., Kwon, Y., ... Bae, B. (2007). Phytoremediation of soil co-contaminated with heavy metals and TNT using four plant species. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A*, 42(13), 2039–2045. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934520701629781
- Li, Q., Wu, Z., Chu, B., Zhang, N., Cai, S., & Fang, J. (2007). Heavy metals in coastal wetland sediments of the Pearl River Estuary, China. *Environmental Pollution*, 149(2), 158–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.01.006
- Li, W. C., Ye, Z. H., & Wong, M. H. (2010). Metal mobilization and production of short-chain organic acids by rhizosphere bacteria associated with a Cd/Zn hyperaccumulating plant, Sedum alfredii. *Plant and Soil*, *326*(1), 453–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0025-y
- Lin, Q., Shen, K. L., Zhao, H. M., & Li, W. H. (2008). Growth response of Zea mays L. in pyrene-copper co-contaminated soil and the fate of pollutants. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 150(3), 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.04.132
- Lin, Q., Wang, Z., Ma, S., & Chen, Y. (2006). Evaluation of dissipation mechanisms by Lolium perenne L, and Raphanus sativus for pentachlorophenol (PCP) in copper co-contaminated soil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 368(2–3), 814–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.03.024
- Liste, H. H., & Alexander, M. (2000). Accumulation of phenanthrene and pyrene in rhizosphere soil. *Chemosphere*, 40(1), 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00217-9
- Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., Dunham, S. J., & McGrath, S. P. (2000). Natural hyperaccumulation

versus chemically enhanced phytoextraction. *Journal of Environmental Quality : Bioremediation and Biodegradation*, *30*(6), 1919–1926. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2001.1919

- Loper, C., Breen, K., Zimmerman, T., & Clunne, J. (2009). Pesticides in Ground Water in Selected Agricultural Land-Use Areas and Hydrogeologic Settings in Pennsylvania,2003-07. Retrieved from https://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/sir20095139
- Lunney, A. I., Zeeb, B. A., & Reimer, K. J. (2004). Uptake of Weathered DDT in Vascular
 Plants: Potential for Phytoremediation. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *38*(22), 6147–6154. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES030705B
- Marques, A., Rangel, O., & Castro, P. (2009). Remediation of heavy metal contaminated Soils: phytoremediation as a potentially promising clean-up technology. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, *39*, 622–654.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10643380701798272
- Martley, E., Gulson, B. L., & Pfeifer, H. R. (2004). Metal concentrations in soils around the copper smelter and surrounding industrial complex of Port Kembla, NSW, Australia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 325(1–3), 113–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.11.012
- Masarovičová, E., & Kráľová, K. (2012). Plant-Heavy Metal Interaction: Phytoremediation,
 Biofortification and Nanoparticles. In B. Montanaro, Giuseppe Dichio (Ed.), Advances in selected plant physiology Aspects (pp. 77–95). Rijeka, Croatia : InTech. Retrieved from http://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs/35824.pdf

- McClintock, N. (2012). Assessing soil lead contamination at multiple scales in Oakland,
 California: Implications for urban agriculture and environmental justice. *Applied Geography*, 35(1–2), 460–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2012.10.001
- McGinley, P. ., Katz, L. ., & Weber, W. J. (1993). A distributed reactivity model for sorption by soils and sediments:multicomponent systems and competitive effects. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 26(10), 1524–1531. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00034a012
- McGrath, T. J., Morrison, P. D., Sandiford, C. J., Ball, A. S., & Clarke, B. O. (2016).
 Widespread polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) contamination of urban soils in
 Melbourne, Australia. *Chemosphere*, *164*, 225–232.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.08.017
- McLean, J. E., & Bledsoe, B. E. (1992). Behavior of Metals in Soils. *Office of Research and Development*, *EPA/540/S-*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa030660
- Mendoza-Cózatl, D. G., Jobe, T. O., Hauser, F., & Schroeder, J. I. (2011). Long-distance transport, vacuolar sequestration, tolerance, and transcriptional responses induced by cadmium and arsenic. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *14*(5), 554–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2011.07.004
- Menendez-Vega, D., Luis, J., Gallego, R., Pelaez, A. I., Fernandez De Cordoba, G., Moreno, J.,
 ... Sanchez, J. (2007). Engineered in situ bioremediation of soil and groundwater polluted with weathered hydrocarbons. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, *43*(5–6), 310–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2007.03.005

Ministry of Environment and Climate Change(MOECC). (2016). Brown-fields redevelopment.

Retrieved February 17, 2017, from https://www.ontario.ca/page/brownfields-redevelopment

- Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change (MOECC). (2011). Soil, ground water and sediment standards for use under Part XV.1 of the Environmental Protection Act. Retrieved February 6, 2017, from https://www.ontario.ca/page/soil-ground-water-and-sedimentstandards-use-under-part-xv1-environmental-protection-act
- Mitton, F. M., Miglioranza, K. S. B., Gonzalez, M., Shimabukuro, V. M., & Monserrat, J. M. (2014). Assessment of tolerance and efficiency of crop species in the phytoremediation of DDT polluted soils. *Ecological Engineering*, *71*, 501–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.07.069
- Mo, C. H., Cai, Q. Y., Li, H. Q., Zeng, Q. Y., Tang, S. R., & Zhao, Y. C. (2008). Potential of different species for use in removal of DDT from the contaminated soils. *Chemosphere*, 73(1), 120–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.04.082
- Mochungong, P., & Zhu, J. (2015). DDTs, PCBs and PBDEs contamination in Africa, Latin America and South-southeast Asia—a review. AIMS Environmental Science, 2(2), 374–399. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2015.2.374
- MOECC(Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Canda). (2011). Ontario Soil, ground water and sediment standards. Part XV.1 of the Environmental Protection Act. Retrieved from https://www.ontario.ca/page/soil-ground-water-and-sediment-standards-use-underpart-xv1-environmental-protection-act
- Moore, F., Dehghan, S., & Keshavarzi, B. (2014). Characterization of Soil Contamination in Miduk Mining District, SW Iran. *Soil and Sediment Contamination: An International*

Journa, 23(6), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/15320383.2014.856856

- Murphy, I. J., & Coats, J. R. (2011). The Capacity of Switch grass (Panicum Virgatum) To Degrade Atrazine in a Phytoremediation Setting. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 30(3), 715–722. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.437
- Narwal, R. P., & Singh, B. R. (1998). Effect of organic materials on partitioning, extractability and plant uptake of metals in an alum shale soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 103(1–4), 405–421. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004912724284
- Nascimento, C. W. A., Amarasiriwardena, D., & Xing, B. (2006). Comparison of natural organic acids and synthetic chelates at enhancing phytoextraction of metals from a multi-metal contaminated soil. *Environmental Pollution*, 140(1), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2005.06.017
- Nicholls, P. H. (1986). Organic Contaminants in the Environment : Environmental Pathways & Effects. In K. C. Jones (Ed.), *Organic Contaminants in the Environment* (1st ed., pp. 87–133). London: Springer Netherlands.
- Olaniran, A. O., Balgobind, A., & Pillay, B. (2013). Bioavailability of heavy metals in soil: Impact on microbial biodegradation of organic compounds and possible improvement strategies. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(5), 10197–10228. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140510197
- Padmavathi, P. K., & Li, L. Y. (2009). Phytoremediation and its effect on the mobility of metals in soil: a fractionation study. *Land Contamination & Reclamation*, 17(2), 223–235. https://doi.org/10.2462/09670513.937

- Padmavathiamma, P. K., & Li, L. Y. (2009). Phytoremediation of Metal-Contaminated Soil in Temperate Humid Regions of British Columbia, Canada. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 11(6), 575–590. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510902717606
- Paul, S., Rutter, A., & Zeeb, B. A. (2015). Phytoextraction of DDT-Contaminated Soil at Point
 Pelee National Park, Leamington, ON, Using Cultivar Howden and Native Grass Species.
 Journal of Environment Quality, 44(4), 1201. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2014.11.0465
- Phillips, L. A., Greer, C. W., Farrell, R. E., & Germida, J. J. (2012). Plant root exudates impact the hydrocarbon degradation potential of a weathered-hydrocarbon contaminated soil. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 52(1), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.10.009
- Pilon-Smits, E. (2005). Phytoremediation. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 56(1), 15–39. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.56.032604.144214
- Poorter, H., Fiorani, F., Stitt, M., Schurr, U., Finck, A., Gibon, Y., ... Pons, T. L. (2012). The Art of Growing Plants for Experimental Purposes: A Practical Guide For the Plant Biologist. *Functional Plant Biology*, 39(11), 821–838. https://doi.org/10.1071/FP12028
- Prasad, M. N. (2003). Phytoremediation of Metal-Polluted Ecosystems: Hype for Commercialization. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 50(5), 686–701. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025604627496
- RAJAN, A. K., & BLACKMAN, G. E. (1975). Interacting Effects of Light and Day and Night Temperatures on the Growth of Four Species in the Vegetative Phase. *Annals of Botany*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/42757003

Ramamurthy, A., & Memarian, R. (2012). Phytoremediation of Mixed Soil Contaminants.

Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 223(2), 551–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-011-0878-6

- Rathoure, A. K. (2016). Heavy Metal Pollution and its Management:Bioremediation of Heavy Metal. In A. K. Rathoure & V. k. Dhatwalia (Eds.), *Toxicity and Waste Management Using Bioremediation - Google Books* (1st ed., pp. 27–42). Engineering Science Refrence(an imprint of IGI global). Retrieved from https://books.google.ca/books?id=tVgeCwAAQBAJ&pg=PA30&lpg=PA30&dq=petroleum +based++hydrocarbons,+pesticides+and+heavy+metals+are+common+and+US+EPA&sour ce=bl&ots=Mppz9qAAoa&sig=vnDTlVj6Dkem9L5YRpwmiwnVozw&hl=en&sa=X&ved =0ahUKEwjlg7rCxLXaAhVBiOAKHT8dCn84ChD
- Reddy, K. R., Amaya-Santos, G., & Cooper, D. E. (2017). Field-Scale Phytoremediation of Mixed Contaminants in Upland Area of Big Marsh Site, Chicago, USA. *Indian Geotechnical Journal*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40098-017-0220-3
- Reddy, K. R., Amaya-Santos, G., Yargicoglu, E., Cooper, D. E., & Negri, M. C. (2017). Phytoremediation of heavy metals and PAHs at slag fill site: three-year field-scale investigation. *International Journal of Geotechnical Engineering*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/19386362.2017.1318231
- Reddy, K. R., & Chirakkara, R. A. (2013). Green and Sustainable Remedial Strategy for
 Contaminated Site:Case Study. *Geotechnology Geological Engineering*, *31*(6), 1653–1661.
 https://doi.org/DOI 10.1007/s10706-013-9688-5
- Riely, R. G., Zachara, J. M., & Wobber, F. J. (1992). *Chemical Contaminants on DOE Lands* and Selection of Contaminant Mixture for Subsurface Science Research. Washington D.C,.

- Rieuwerts, J. S., Thornton, I., Farago, M. E., & Ashmore, M. R. (1998). Factors influencing metal bioavailability in soils: Preliminary investigations for the development of a critical loads approach for metals. *Chemical Speciation and Bioavailability*, *10*(2), 61–75. https://doi.org/10.3184/095422998782775835
- Rinklebe, J., Knox, A. S., & Paller, M. H. (2017). *Trace elements in waterlogged soils and sediments*. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Romeh, A. A. (2015). Evaluation of the phytoremediation potential of three plant species for azoxystrobin-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 12(11), 3509–3518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-015-0772-7
- Romeh, A. A., Khamis, M. A., & Metwally, S. M. (2016). Potential of Plantago major L. for Phytoremediation of Lead-Contaminated Soil and Water. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 227(9), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2687-9
- Sandrin, T., & Hoffman, D. (2007). Bioremediation of Organic and Metal Cocontaminated Environments: Effects of Metal Toxicity, Speciation, and Bioavailability on Biodegradation. In S. N. Singh & R. D. Tripathi (Eds.), *Environmental Bioremediation Technologies* (pp. 1–28). Springer Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-34793-4
- Sandrin, T. R., Chech, A. M., & Maier, R. M. (2000). A Rhamnolipid Biosurfactant Reduces Cadmium Toxicity during Naphthalene Biodegradation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(10), 4585–4588. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.10.4585-4588.2000
- Schnoor, J. L., Light, L. A., McCutucheon, S. C., Wolfe, L, N., & Carriera, L. H. (1995). Phytoremediation of organic and nutrient contaminants. *Environmental Science and*
Technology, 29(7), 318–323. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1021/es00007a002 CITATIONS

- Sessitsch, A., Kuffner, M., Kidd, P., Vangronsveld, J., Wenzel, W. W., Fallmann, K., & Puschenreiter, M. (2013). The role of plant-associated bacteria in the mobilization and phytoextraction of trace elements in contaminated soils. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 60(100), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.01.012
- Sharma, H. D., & Reddy, K. R. (2004). Geoenvironmental engineering:site remediation,waste containment andemerging waste managemnet technologies. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Shuman, L. M. (1985). Fraction method for soil micro element. Soil Science, 140, 11-22.
- Siedlecka, A. (1995). Some aspects of interaction between heavy metal and plant mineral nutrients. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae, 64(3), 265–272. https://doi.org/10.5586/asbp.1995.035
- Smith, M. J., Flowers, T. H., Duncan, H. j., & Alder, J. (2006). Effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on germination and subsequent growth of grasses and legumes in freshly contaminated soil and soil with aged PAHs residues. *Environmental Pollution*, 141(3), 519– 525. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2005.08.061
- Spessard, G. O., & Miessler, G. L. (2010). *Organometallic chemistry* (2nd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Spurgeon, D. J., Lofts, S., Hankard, P. K., Toal, M., McLellan, D., Fishwick, S., & Svendsen, C.
 (2006). EFFECT OF pH ON METAL SPECIATION AND RESULTING METAL
 UPTAKE AND TOXICITY FOR EARTHWORMS. *Environmental Toxicology and*

Chemistry, 25(3), 788. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-045R1.1

- Sun, M., Fu, D., Teng, Y., Shen, Y., Luo, Y., Li, Z., & Christie, P. (2011). In situ phytoremediation of PAH-contaminated soil by intercropping alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.) with tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea Schreb.) and associated soil microbial activity. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, *11*(6), 980–989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-011-0382-z
- Sun, Y., Zhou, Q., Xu, Y., Wang, L., & Liang, X. (2011). Phytoremediation for co-contaminated soils of benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P) and heavy metals using ornamental plant Tagetes patula. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 186(2–3), 2075–2082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.12.116
- Tangahu, B. V., Sheikh Abdullah, S. R., Basri, H., Idris, M., Anuar, N., & Mukhlisin, M. (2011).
 A Review on Heavy Metals (As, Pb, and Hg) Uptake by Plants through Phytoremediation. *International Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 2011, 1–31.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/939161
- Tessier, A., Campbell, P. G. C., & Bisson, M. (1979). Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace metals. *Analytical Chemistry*, 51(7), 844–851. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac50043a017
- Thakur, S., Singh, L., Wahid, Z., Siddiqui, M. F., Atnaw, S. M., & Din, M. F. (2016). Plantdriven removal of heavy metals from soil: uptake, translocation, tolerance mechanism, challenges, and future perspectives. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 188(4), 188–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5211-9

Thavamani, P., Megharaj, M., Krishnamurti, G., McFarland, R., & Naidu, R. (2011). Finger

Printing of Mixed Contaminants from Former Manufactured Gas Plant(MGP) site soils:Implication to Bioremediation. *Environmental International*, *37*(1), 184–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.08.017

- Thavamani, P., Megharaj, M., Venkateswarlu, K., & Naidu, R. (2013). Mixed Contamination of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbon and Metals at Manufactured Gas Plant Sites:Toxicity and Implications to Bioremediation. In M. H. Wong (Ed.), *Environmental Contamination: Health Risks and Ecological Restoration* (pp. 347–364). Danvers: CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b12531-2
- Tighe, M., Lockwood, P., Wilson, S., & Lisle, L. (2004). Comparison of Digestion Methods for ICP-OES Analysis of a Wide Range of Analytes in Heavy Metal Contaminated Soil Samples with Specific Reference to Arsenic and Antimony. *COMMUNICATIONS IN SOIL SCIENCE AND PLANT ANALYSIS*, 35(10), 1369–1385. https://doi.org/10.1081/CSS-120037552
- Titato, G., & Lancas, F. (2006). Optimization and validation of HPLC-UV-DAD and HPLC-APCI-MS methodologies for the determination of selected PAHs in water samples. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, *44*, 35–41.
- Treasury Board of Canada. (2016). Federal Contaminated Site Inventory. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/fcsi-rscf/home-accueil-eng.aspx
- U.S. EPA. (2007). Method 3051A: Microwave Assisted Acid Digestion of Sediments, Sludges, Soils, and Oils.
- U.S EPA. (2007). Method 3546: Microwave Extraction.

- U.S EPA. (2009). Environmental Chemistry, transport and fate. Guidance for Reporting on the Environmental Fate and Transport of the Stressors of Concern in Problem Formulations.
- U.S EPA. (2016). *Basic Information about Pesticide Ingredients*. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/ingredients-used-pesticide-products/basic-information-aboutpesticide-ingredients
- Vácha, R., Skála, J., Čechmánková, J., Horváthová, V., & Hladík, J. (2015). Toxic elements and persistent organic pollutants derived from industrial emissions in agricultural soils of the Northern Czech Republic. *Journal of Soil and Sediments*, 15(8), 1813–1824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-015-1120-8
- Van Zwieten, L., Ayres, M. R., & Morris, S. G. (2003). Influence of arsenic co-contamination on DDT breakdown and microbial activity. *Environmental Pollution*, 124(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00463-3
- Vu, C. T., Lin, C., Hung, W., Huang, W.-Y., Kaewlaoyoong, A., Yotapukdee, S., ... Shen, Y.-H. (2017). Ultrasonic Soil Washing with Fish Oil Extract to Remove Polychlorinated Dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), Dibenzofurans (PCDFs) from Highly Contaminated Field Soils. *Water Air & Soil Pollution*, 228(343), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-017-3534-y
- Wan, X., Lei, M., & Chen, T. (2016). Cost–benefit calculation of phytoremediation technology for heavy-metal-contaminated soil. *Science of The Total Environment*, 563–564, 796–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.080
- Wang, G., Gerwin, A., Koopmans, F., Song, J., Temminghoff, E. J. M., Luo, Y., ... Japenga, J. (2007). Mobilization of heavy metals from contaminated paddy soil by EDDS, EDTA, and

elemental sulfur. *Environmental Geochem Health*, 29, 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-006-9078-5

- Wang, H. J. (2008). Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR) Enhanced Phytoremediation of DDT Contaminated Soil. University of Waterloo.
- Wang, W., Meng, B., Lu, X., Liu, Y., & Tao, S. (2007). Extraction of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and organochlorine pesticides from soils: A comparison between Soxhlet extraction, microwave-assisted extraction and accelerated solvent extraction techniques. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2007.09.023
- White, J. C. (2000). Phytoremediation of Weathered DDE Residues in Soil. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 2(2), 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510008500035
- Wierzbicka, M., & Obidzińska, J. (1998). The effect of lead on seed imbibition and germination in different plant species. *Plant Science*, 137(2), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9452(98)00138-1
- Wong, J. (2004). Phytoremediation of Contaminated Soils. *Journal of Natural Resources and Life Sciences Education*, 33, 51–53.
- World Health Organization. (2003). Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in Drinking-water
 Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality.
 Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/polyaromahydrocarbons.pdf

Wuana, R. A., & Okieimen, F. E. (2011). Heavy Metals in Contaminated Soils: A Review of Sources, Chemistry, Risks and Best Available Strategies for Remediation. *International* Scholarly Research Notices. https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/402647

- Wuana, R. A., Okieimen, F. E., & Vesuwe, R. . (2014). Mixed contaminant interactions in soil : implications for bioavailability, risk assessment and remediation. *Afr. J. Environ. Sci. Technol*, 8(12), 691–706. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST2013.1624
- Xing, B. S., Pignatello, J. ., & Gigliotti, B. (1996). Competitive sorption betweeen atrazine and other organic compounds in soils and model sorbents. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 30(8), 2432–2440. https://doi.org/10.1021/es950350z
- XL Group Insurance. (2014). Urban Fill:Navigating the transactional and redevelopment uncertainty of clean vs. contaminated fill. Retrieved from http://xlcatlin.com/search?q=documents&slang=en
- Xu, S., Guo, S., Wu, B., Li, F., & Li, T. (2014). An assessment of the effectiveness and impact of electrokinetic remediation for pyrene-contaminated soil. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 26(11), 2290–2297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2014.09.014
- Ye, M., Sun, M., Wan, J., Fang, G., Li, H., Hu, F., ... Orori, K. F. (2015). Evaluation of enhanced soil washing process with tea saponin in a peanut oil-water solvent system for the extraction of PBDEs/PCBs/PAHs and heavy metals from an electronic waste site followed by vetiver grass phytoremediation. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 90(11), 2027–2035. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4512
- Zeeb, B. A., Amphlett, J. S., Rutter, A., & Reimer, K. J. (2006). Potential for Phytoremediation of Polychlorinated Biphenyl-(PCB) Contaminated Soil. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 8(3), 199–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510600846749

- Zhang, H., Dang, Z., Zheng, L. C., & Yi, X. Y. (2009). Remediation of soil co-contaminated with pyrene and cadmium by growing maize (zea mays l.). *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 6(2), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03327629
- Zhao, F., Ma, Y., Zhu, Y., Tang, Z., & McGrath, S. P. (2015). Soil Contamination in China:
 Current Status and Mitigation Strategies. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(2), 750–759. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5047099
- Zhu, Z., Yang, X. E., Wang, K., Huang, H., Zhang, X., Fang, H., ... He, Z. L. (2012).
 Bioremediation of Cd-DDT co-contaminated soil using the Cd-hyperaccumulator Sedum alfredii and DDT-degrading microbes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 235–236(15), 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.07.033
- Zihms, S., Switzer, C., & Tarantino, A. (2013). Remediation and Reuse of Soils. In EGU
 General Assembly 2013, held 7-12 April, 2013 in Vienna, Austria, id. EGU2013-873 (Vol. 15, p. 873). Vienna.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: HPLC details for pyrene

 Table A-1: HPLC setup for pyrene

Ref	Titato and Lancas 2006
Mobile phase	Acetonitrile: water
Elution programme	Isocratic elution 70% acetonitrile: 30% water
Flow rate	0.8ml/min
Column temperature	~30°C.
Detection wavelength	254nm
Retention time	$11.62 \pm 0.01 \text{ (n=5,\pm SD)}$



Figure A-1: Chromatograph for pyrene 100mg/l



Figure A-2: Calibration curve for pyrene

Appendix B: HPLC details for DDT

Table B1: HPLC setup for DDT

Ref	(Wang, 2008)
Mobile phase	Acetonitrile: water
Elution programme	Gradient elution
	At t=0 mins,70% acetonitrile:
	30% water
	At t=11 mins, 85% acetonitrile:
	15% water
	At t=21 mins, 100% acetonitrile
	At t=31mins, 70% acetonitrile:
	30% water
	AT t=41mins, 70% acetonitrile:
	30% water
Flow rate	1ml/min
Column temperature	~30°C.
Detection wavelength	235nm
Retention time	10.83 ± 0.009 mins for 4,4'-DDT
	11.81 ±0.01 mins for 2,4' DDT
	(n=4, ±SD)



Figure B-1: Chromatograph for DDT 10mg/l



Figure B-2: Calibration curve for DDT

Appendix C: Metal concentrations of plant tissues in clean soil

Plant	Shoot Concentration (mg/kg)		Root Concentration (mg/kg)	
	Cu	Pb	Cu	Pb
Oat	5.89 ± 0.36	0.17 ± 0.17	43.77 ± 2.90	22.49 ± 1.31
Alfalfa	8.91 ± 1.05	0.0 ± 0.0	28.77 ± 6.03	14.18 ± 2.19
Ryegrass	15.90 ± 4.0	1.72 ± 0.35	31.15 ± 7.73	17.01 ± 1.41
Indian mustard	7.29 ± 1.77	1.16 ± 0.83	27.66 ± 1.31	16.52 ± 1.63
Sunflower	11.86 ± 3.51	2.01 ± 0.76	30.74 ± 0.78	13.05 ± 0.02

Table C-1: Metal concentration (mean \pm SE, n=3) of plants grown in clean soil

Appendix D: Analysis of variance for metal fractioning in soil

Table D-1: Two way analysis of variance for Cu fractions in soil. DF=Degree of freedom,

SS= Sum of squares, MS=Mean square.

Source of	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
variation					
Plant	5	0.522	0.096	12.648	<0.001
Metal fractions	4	50.94	15.947	1796.584	<0.001
Plant x Metal fraction	20	1.099	0.0297	12.924	<0.001
Residual	60	0.347	0.00891		
Total	89	68.497			

Table D-1: Two-way analysis of variance for Pb fractions in soil. DF=Degree of freedom,

SS= Sum of squares, MS=Mean square.

Source of	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
variation					
Plant	5	0.322	0.0644	8.647	<0.001
Soil metal	4	46.718	11.680	1569.329	< 0.001
fractions					
Plant x Soil	20	1.299	0.0649	8.724	<0.001
metal fractions					
Residual	60	0.447	0.00744		
Total	89	48.785	0.548		

Appendix E: List of parametric and non-parametric statistical tests used for data analysis

Data	Text reference	Variance analysis	Pair wise comparisim
pH _{cacl2}	Table 3-5	Two way repeated ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
Preliminary toxicity			
test:	Figure 3-1	Two way repeated	Holm-Sidak
Percent germination	Figure 3-2	ANOVA	
Root length	Figure 3-3		
Shoot length			
Metal concentration in	Figure 3-4	Two way ANOVA	Turkey (root)
plants			Holm-Sidak (shoot)
Total metal	Figure 3-5	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
accumulation in plants			
Pore water metal	Table 3-7	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
concentration			
Metal concentration in	Figure 3-6	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
soil			
Cu speciation in soil	Figure 3-7	Two way ANOVA	Turkey
Pb speciation in soil	Figure 3-8	Two way ANOVA	Turkey
Pyrene concentration in	Figure 3-9	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
soil			
DDT concentration in	Figure 3-10	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
soil			
Percent germination of	Figure 3-11	Mann-Whitney rank	NA
plants in clean and		sum test and Kruskal-	
contaminated soil		Wallis one way	
		ANOVA on ranks	
Percent survival of	Figure 3-12	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
plants in contaminated			
soil			
Plant growth rate in	Figure 3-13	Two way repeated	Turkey
clean and contaminated		ANOVA	
soils			
Plant biomass in clean	Figure 3-14	Two way ANOVA	Holm-Sidak
and contaminated soil			

Table E-1: List of statistical analysis of all data sets

Appendix F: Photographs of effects of contamination on plant growth



Figure F- 18: Yellowing and drying up of leaves observed in sunflower and Indian mustard plants grown in contaminated soils

Curriculum Vitae Ezinne Ndubueze

POST-SECONDARY	B.Eng Civil Engineering
EDUCATION AND	Federal University of Technology, Owerri, Nigeria
DEGREES:	2011
	M.E.Sc. Civil and Environmental Engineering
	University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada
	2018
TEACHING EXPERIENCE:	Biology for Science
	Teaching Assistant, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada
	2018
	Applied Calculus
	Teaching Assistant, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada
	2017
	Strength of Materials
	Teaching Assistant University of Uvo Akwaibom Nigeria
	2012
	Introduction to civil Engineering Laboratory
	Teaching Assistant, University of Uyo, Akwaibom, Nigeria
	2012
INDUSTRIAL	BTG Constructions, Abuja, Nigeria
EXPERIENCE:	Engineer-in-training
	2013
	University of Uyo, Akwaibom, Nigeria
	Research Assistant
	2012
	Cypress Consults, Imo, Nigeria
	Engineering Intern
	2010
	2015 University of Uyo, Akwaibom, Nigeria Research Assistant 2012 Cypress Consults, Imo, Nigeria Engineering Intern 2010

	Zerock construction, Imo, Nigeria
	Engineering Intern
	2008
PRESENTATIONS	Ndubueze, E. Potential of Five Plant Species for Phytoremediation for Ternary
	Contaminant Mixtures in Soil. Presentation at Envirocon, University of
	Western Ontario.
	Ndubueze E., 2018. Pushing the boundaries of phytoremediation. Presentation
	at Retiring with Strong Minds-Community Outreach.
	Ndubueze F. Zhu, I. Krausert F. 2016, Bad Blood: Sanitation Needs for
	Girls Poster presented at the Africa-Western Collaboration Day University of
	Western Ontario
SCHOLARSHIPS AND	Queen Elizabeth II collaborative research scholarship (\$72,900 CAD) 2016 –
AWARDS	2018